REVIEW ARTICLE



Ongoing soil potassium depletion under intensive cropping in India and probable mitigation strategies. A review

Debarup Das¹ · Jyotirmaya Sahoo¹ · Md Basit Raza¹ · Mandira Barman¹ · Ruma Das¹

Accepted: 20 September 2021 / Published online: 13 January 2022 © INRAE and Springer-Verlag France SAS, part of Springer Nature 2021

Abstract

Potassium (K) is essential for plant growth and vital for soil health. However, despite high crop demand, K fertilization continues to be ignored or severely inadequate in Indian agriculture. Over time, this could lead to severe depletion of soil K reserve, irreversibly alter K-bearing minerals, and adversely affect soil fertility and crop productivity. Hence, we should comprehensively assess the alarming situation of soil K mining in India and come up with appropriate solutions. Keeping the above in mind, here we review the soil K pools concerning plant availability, their contents in major soil orders of India, reasons and status of soil K mining under major crops and cropping systems in India, and the impact of long-term K mining on soil K pools and clay minerals. We also address various aspects of sustainable K management in agriculture and suggest future action courses focusing on India. Our main findings are: (i) farmers in India mainly apply nitrogen and phosphorus, but little or no K; consequently, (ii) net K balance continues to be negative for most crops and cropping systems across India (e.g., - 3.29 million tonnes [Mt] in 2000–01, - 7.2 Mt in 2015–16); (iii) long-term K mining primarily depletes the exchangeable and non-exchangeable K pools in soil, and alters clay minerals to various extents; and (iv) the existing K fertilizer recommendations need an upward revision. We further enlist indigenous non-conventional alternatives of K fertilizers to meet the agricultural K demand. This is the first comprehensive review to simultaneously address the ongoing soil K mining in India, its impact, and its potential mitigation strategies. The points raised here would help reduce soil K mining, plan research work, and make policy decisions on K fertilization and residue management with the ultimate goal to prevent soil health deterioration and ensure sustainable crop production.

Keywords Imbalanced fertilization \cdot Potassium mining \cdot Soil potassium pools \cdot Long-term experiment \cdot Potassium management \cdot Non-conventional sources

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Soil K pools
 - 2.1 Availability to plants
 - 2.2. Relative distribution in major soil orders of India
- Jyotirmaya Sahoo jyotirmaya_11342@iari.res.in; jyotirmayasahoo032@gmail.com
- Md Basit Raza basit_11337@iari.res.in; mohammedbasitraza@gmail.com
- ¹ Division of Soil Science and Agricultural Chemistry, ICAR– Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi 110012, India

- 3. Mining of soil K under intensive cultivation in India
 - 3.1. Reasons behind soil K mining in India
 - 3.2. Major crops and cropping systems of India and K uptake
 - 3.3. Soil K mining under major crops and cropping systems
 - 3.4. Soil K mining at national scale
- 4. Implications of neglecting K fertilization: lessons from long-term experiments
 - 4.1. Apparent K balance and depletion of soil K pools
 - 4.2. Alteration of clay minerals
- 5. Sustainable management of potassium in agriculture
 - 5.1 Correct evaluation of soil K available for crops
 - 5.2 Sources of K in agriculture
 - 5.2.1 Fertilizers
 - 5.2.2 Crop residues
 - 5.2.3 Manures and composts
 - 5.2.4 Minerals
 - 5.2.5 Potassium solubilizing bacteria



- 5.3 Time and method of application
- 5.4 Economics of K fertilizer use
- 6. Suggestions for stakeholders
- 7. Conclusions
- Acknowledgements

References

1 Introduction

Potassium (K) is one of the essential nutrients required in massive amounts by plants for numerous metabolic activities viz., synthesis of starch, cellulose, proteins, vitamins; activation of cellular enzymes; enhancing nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) use efficiency; imparting resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses; and improving quality of agricultural produce (Epstein and Bloom 2005; Brady and Weil 2012). Since K does not integrate into organic compounds, it is often present in the cationic form in plants. The accumulation of K in cytoplasm controls organic compound synthesis while that in vacuoles modulates cellular osmoregulation processes (Oosterhuis et al. 2014). Potassium is involved in stomatal opening in plants and helps in better adaptation to water scarcity under drought. By aiding ion homeostasis and regulating osmotic potential, K helps alleviate salt stress in plants. Because of similar size, K⁺ can also help in reducing the toxic effect of ammonium (NH₄⁺) in plants (Oosterhuis et al. 2014). By regulating biosynthesis, conversion, and allocation of essential metabolites, K works towards increasing crop yields. Potassium helps flowering, increasing pollen germination and seed development (Hasanuzzaman et al.

Fig. 1 Severe K deficiency symptom (yellowing) in soybean (*Glycine max*) grown on a Vertisol in Ngawi, East Java, Indonesia. Courtesy of A. Taufiq, ILETRI, Indonesia. Photograph by the International Potash Institute (IPI) (https:// photo.ipipotash.org/, accessed on 14 June 2021, reproduced with permission from IPI). 2018). Fertilization with K can vastly improve fruiting in crops. Srivastava et al. (2014) reported ~ 36% increase in fruit yield of Nagpur orange (*Citrus reticulata* B.) with K fertilization as compared to without K fertilization on a smectitic Vertisol. Apart from imparting significant physiological functions in plants that are key for high productivity, K is also crucial for improving the quality and shelf-life of fruits and vegetables (Lester et al. 2010). Under K deficiency, tips and margins of older leaves in most plants show chlorosis (yellowing) followed by necrosis (death of tissues), imparting a burning look on the leaf edges (Subba Rao and Brar 2009). For example, see Figs. 1 and 2 for chlorosis in soybean (*Glycine max*) and necrosis in sorghum-Sudan grass hybrid (*Sorghum bicolor × S. sudanense*) leaves, respectively, caused by K deficiency.

Besides plant nutrition, being a structural component of many important soil minerals, K also plays a crucial role in maintaining soil health. Because loss of K from interlayers of K-bearing 2:1 minerals might yield irreversible changes, which would have far-reaching adverse consequences in soil fertility, e.g., nutrient and water holding capacity, release and fixation of various nutrient ions, etc. Under conditions of continuous plant K removal largely exceeding K input, K⁺ present between subsequent layers of mica or illite might be replaced by other cations, e.g., H_3O^+ , hydrated Ca^{2+} , and NH_4^+ (from N fertilizers), causing transformation of mica or illite into vermiculite or some intergrade minerals (Barré et al. 2008; Moterle et al. 2016; Das et al. 2019c). Such processes have immense significance in soils, as they can alter soil CEC (Hinsinger and Jaillard 1993), retention of important elements (Raheb and Heidari 2012), and also



Fig. 2 Necrosis due to K deficiency at tips and margins of leaves of sorghum-Sudan grass hybrid (*Sorghum bicolor* \times *S*. sudanense) grown on a calcareous soil (from Bihar, India) in a greenhouse of Division of Soil Science and Agricultural Chemistry (SSAC), ICAR-Indian Agricultural Research Institute (IARI), New Delhi. Photographs: (1) Subhadip Paul, PhD Scholar, Division of SSAC, ICAR-IARI, New Delhi. (2) Debarup Das, Scientist, Division of SSAC, ICAR-IARI, New Delhi.



the K mobility, including its release and fixation (Bortoluzzi et al. 2013).

The K requirement of crops, by and large, is as high as that of N, causing its substantial removal from the soil through harvested plant parts, especially under intensive cultivation without adequate K input (Das et al. 2019c, d; 2020). The N: P_2O_5 : K_2O consumption ratio in 2019–2020 was 6.96:2.79:1 in India, and it has remained tilted towards N and P (more towards N between N and P) over the last many years despite the average crop uptake pattern hanging around 1.0:0.3:1.3 (FAI 2020; Katyal 2020). Apart from the inadequate application rates, the common practice of removing crop residues from fields further aggravates the problem of K mining in Indian soils, as crop removal is the most significant output in K balance equations (Sanyal et al. 2014). Removing crop residues from fields accelerates nutrient depletion, especially K depletion (Goulding et al. 2021). Straws of small grain crops contain lesser N and P but higher K than grains. For instance, average straw: grain mass ratio for N and P, respectively, are 0.47 and 0.26 for wheat (Triticum aestivum) and 0.49 and 0.35 for barley (Hordeum vulgare); but, for K are 4.12 (wheat) and 5.04 (barley) (Tarkalson et al. 2009). Hence, removing straws and grains of these crops would extensively speed up soil K depletion than only removing the grains. Rice (Oryza sativa) straw contains over 85% of K present in the aboveground parts of the plant, and 14–20 kg K_2O ha⁻¹ is removed with the removal of 1 Mg of rice straw (Dobermann and Fairhurst 2002). Potassium removal by rice straw is around six times removed by the same amount of rice grains. In general, K removal by crop residues in India has been estimated to be ~ 5 times supplied through fertilizers (Chander 2011).

The outcomes obtained from the farmers' fields under the All India Coordinated Research Projects on Integrated Farming Systems (AICRP-IFS) showed the prevalence of soil K mining under several dominant cropping systems of India, including the most important one, i.e., rice-wheat (AICRP-IFS 2012; Majumdar et al. 2017). For these reasons, K accounted for the major portion of reported negative N-P-K balance in Indian soils over the past few decades (Tandon 2004; Srinivasarao et al. 2011; Dutta et al. 2013; Tewatia et al. 2017; Katyal 2020). The problem of soil K mining is not confined to India only. Data from on-station and on-farm studies worldwide revealed a significant negative balance of K in south Asia and sub-Saharan Africa. In countries like the Philippines, Indonesia, and Thailand, K removal by rice, the most dominant cereal crop there, exceeded K application by 33 to 83 thousand tonnes in 2010–2011 (Majumdar et al. 2021). Annual apparent K balances of -5 to -45 kg ha⁻¹ were observed in various countries of sub-Saharan Africa, totalling ~3 Mt per year (Mt y^{-1}) of negative balance due to crop cultivation with little or no K inputs (Stoorvogel et al. 1993; Van den Bosch et al. 1998; Majumdar et al. 2021).

Mining of K caused by imbalanced fertilization, including inadequate or no K input through fertilizer for prolonged periods implies overdependence of the prevailing cropping systems for K nutrition on soil's native K reserves. The K demand of crops over the "depletion in the exchangeable pool" and "external K input" is met by the non-exchangeable K pool (Bilias and Barbayiannis 2017; 2019a). Consequently, continuous K mining alters the dynamic equilibrium: soil solution K \rightleftharpoons exchangeable K \rightleftharpoons non-exchangeable K and shoots up the net flux of K⁺ in the backward direction. As a result, large portions of



non-exchangeable K are released to compensate for the losses in solution and exchangeable pools. Due to the sluggish rate of weathering of primary minerals, e.g., micas, feldspars, and associated slow K release, the structural pool of K has very little involvement in supporting plant K nutrition (Sanyal 2014a). Hence, soil K mining is most likely to manifest as depletion in exchangeable and nonexchangeable K pools. The problem might be more severe in soils inherently poor in available and non-exchangeable K, e.g., kaolinitic Alfisols of India (Srinivasarao and Vittal 2007; Das et al. 2019c). Inceptisols of Indo-Gangetic Plains (IGP) contain large amounts of mica/illite in clay and silt fractions; consequently, they have large reserves of non-exchangeable and structural K (Sanyal 2014a; Majumdar et al. 2017; Pal 2017). Whereas smectitic Vertisols of central and southern parts of India, mostly, are high in exchangeable K and medium to high in non-exchangeable K contents (Srinivasarao et al. 2007). Irrespective of soil orders, total K content is generally high (Table 1). The K-rich soils may not show any noticeable effect of K mining on K pools and crop production for a brief time frame, though their K fertility status may gradually decline. Over a long time, plant-available K reserve (i.e., exchangeable

 Table 1
 Soil K pools in some Inceptisols, Alfisols and Vertisols of India.

 a^TTextural class: SCL sandy clay loam, CL clay loam, C clay, L loam, SC silty clay, ^bWSK, water soluble K; EK exchangeable K, NEK non-exchangeable K (based on boiling nitric acid extraction), ^cCoarse clay:

and non-exchangeable pool) could get exhausted due to K mining to the extent that even the inherently K-rich soils become unable to support desired levels of crop yields without adequate K input from outside (Sanyal 2001; Singh and Wanjari 2014; Das et al. 2018, 2021). Mining of soil K for prolonged periods have been found to adversely affect the K supplying capacity of a kaolinitic Alfisol (Ranchi), illitic Inceptisols (Cuttack and New Delhi) and a smectitic Vertisol (Jabalpur) of India (Das et al. 2018; 2019c; 2021). Occasionally, mineral distortion was also observed due to long-term soil K mining in India (Das 2018b; Das et al. 2019c) and elsewhere (Moterle et al. 2016; Firmano et al. 2020). Besides causing soil K mining, inadequate or no application of K has also been suspected as one of the primary reasons behind the persistent low N use efficiency (floating around 30-40%, rarely 50%) despite the adoption of better agronomic practices and use of improved crop varieties over time (Katyal 2019, 2020). Negative K balance in agricultural fields is a threat to food security in India and most of the developing and several developed nations (Cakmak 2010; Lu et al. 2017). Soil K depletion has been marked as one of the main reasons behind crop yield stagnation and poor nutrient use efficiency in

2–0.2 μm; fine clay: <0.2 μm, ^dData are averages of four locations (Kreeri, Kunzer, Dialgam, Ganasthan) in mid altitude zone (Kerewa), ^eStructural K.

Location	Depth (cm)	Illite or mica content in clay	WSK ^b	EK	NEK	Total K ^e	Reference
		(%)	mg kg ⁻	1			
Inceptisols							
New Delhi, Delhi	0–15 (SCL ^a)	54	17.8	122	1,407	18,135	Das (2018b); Das et al. (2021)
Gosaba, West Bengal	0–15 (CL)	40	85.0	375	3,939	27,495	Sarkar et al. (2013)
Cuttack, Orissa	0-15 (SCL)	36	20.9	72.5	635	20,635	Das et al. (2018)
Varanasi, Uttar Pradesh	0–15 (C)	-	8.0	66.0	1,947	-	Srinivasrao et al. (2007)
Golaghat, Assam	0–15 (L)	42	20.0	68.8	1641	19,900	Das (2018a)
Lesser Himalaya ^d , Jammu and Kashmir	0–15 (CL)	62	5.0 ^d	56.0 ^d	612 ^d	14,221 ^d	Wani and Kumar (2008)
Alfisols							
Ranibundh, West Bengal	0-15 (SCL)	38	19.9	79.9	2,636.4	12,909	Sarkar et al. (2013)
Ranchi, Jharkhand	0-15 (SCL)	24	8.84	72.1	460.1	24,648	Das et al. (2019c)
Md. Bazar, West Bengal	0-15 (SCL)	24	3.9	48.0	211	10,296	Sarkar et al. (2013)
Phulbani, Orissa	0-15 (SCL)	-	4.0	81.0	725	-	Srinivasrao et al. (2007)
Haveri, Karnataka	0-20 (SCL/CL)	-	2.9	52.3	582	-	Harsha and Jagadeesh (2017b)
Vertisols							
Rahuri, Maharashtra	0–13 (C)	16 (coarse clay ^c), 13 (fine clay)	_	365	1,430	9,900 ^e	Pandian and Datta (2009)
Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu	0–16 (C)	10 (coarse clay), 9 (fine clay)	_	382	1,750	13,200 ^e	Pandian and Datta (2009)
Jabalpur, Madhya Pradesh	0–15 (C)	37	17.0	137	845	-	Das et al. (2019d; 2021)
Rewa, Madhya Pradesh	0–15 (C)	-	9.0	171	1051	-	Srinivasrao et al. (2007)
Indore, Madhya Pradesh	0–15 (SC to C)	_	14.8	256	305	12,855	Anupama et al. (2018

present-day intensive cultivation (Regmi et al. 2002; Ladha et al. 2003). If allowed to go unchecked, soil K mining will eventually deteriorate soil health in general, soil K fertility in particular, and ultimately jeopardize agricultural sustainability as a whole.

In the present article, an attempt has been made to briefly discuss the status of soil K mining in India under major crops and cropping systems, the impact of K mining on major soil orders of India, and the strategies to be undertaken by today's researchers and farmers to mitigate the crisis of rapid K depletion and associated soil health deterioration.

2 Soil K pools

2.1 Availability to plants

Traditionally, K has been shown to reside in 4 pools in a soil, viz. soil solution (often estimated as water-soluble) K (0.1–0.2%), exchangeable K (1–2%), non-exchangeable or fixed or interlayer K (1–10%), and lattice or structural K of primary minerals (90–98%) (Barber 1995; Brady and Weil 2012). However, the existing knowledge that the non-exchangeable K content of soils varies from 1 to 10% of total K needs to be rechecked based on recent findings (Li et al. 2015b; Wang et al. 2016). For example, while working with nine contrasting soils collected from different regions of China, Wang et al. (2016) observed that non-exchangeable K was as high as 21–56% of the total soil K. They employed the sodium tetraphenyl boron (NaBPh₄) method (Cox et al. 1999) and provided sufficient time for extraction of the maximum amount of K.

Plants can directly take up soil solution K as K⁺ (Sparks 1987). Exchangeable K replenishes soil solution K following plant uptake. Such replenishment is fast (completes within tiny fractions of a second) as it involves reversible exchange reactions between other cations (e.g., H₃O⁺, NH_4^+ , Ca^{2+} , and Mg^{2+}) from solution and K^+ held on non-specific sites, e.g., planar surfaces of layer silicate minerals, negatively charged sites on organic matter or iron/aluminum oxides (Sparks and Huang 1985; Bourg and Sposito 2011; Bell et al. 2021). Consequently, soil solution and exchangeable or surface adsorbed K forms are traditionally considered readily or immediately available to plants (Barber 1995). However, the operationally defined exchangeable K might not be entirely plant-available. Exchangeable K in soils is estimated by extracting with a molar solution of NH₄OAc (pH 7). A section of this, known as the minimum exchangeable K, though exchanges with NH_4^+ , does not exchange with Ca^{2+} even when K activity in soil solution approaches zero (Schneider 1997; Islam et al. 2017). The same extrapolates to $(Ca^{2+} + Mg^{2+})$ because they behave similarly when exchanging with K⁺ held by soil solids (Le Roux and Sumner 1968). Given the fact that Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} usually are the dominant cations in arable soils (Le Roux and Sumner 1968), the minimum exchangeable K portion of the exchangeable pool (extracted by NH_4OAc) might be almost unavailable to plants (Islam et al. 2017).

Non-exchangeable K is dynamically linked to exchangeable as well as soil solution pools (Bilias and Barbayiannis 2019a), and can replenish both of them; but at much slower rates than those observed between exchangeable and solution K. Non-exchangeable K assumes a significant role in maintaining K supply to plants in soils with low exchangeable K (Ghorban 2007; Dhar and Sanyal 2000), or soils where exchangeable K is nearing minimum exchangeable K (Das et al. 2019c; 2021), or soils having significant amounts of K-fixing minerals, like interstratified illite or vermiculite (Khan et al. 2014; Li et al. 2017b), or soils undergoing intensive cultivation without adequate external K input (Islam et al. 2017; Das et al. 2019c; 2021). In extreme situations, the non-exchangeable pool might contribute to as high as 80–100% of total K availability to plants (Hinsinger 2002).

Potassium held between subsequent layers of mica, or even illite (i.e., clay-sized mica), is exceptionally stable due to the intense attraction between K^+ and highly negative layer charge, which is about 1 mol per 10-oxygen formula unit (Thompson and Ukrainczyk 2002; Bell et al. 2021). Indeed, their availability to plants would be much lower than those held between the subsequent layers of secondary phyllosilicates like vermiculite or smectite, owing to lower layer charge (than mica or illite) in these minerals (Pal 2017; Bell et al. 2021). Within micas, the release of K from interlayers of biotite is easier than that from muscovite due to shortened and strengthened K-O bond in the ditrigonal cavity of muscovite (Sanyal 2014a). In the presence of biotite, weathering of muscovite is improbable (Pal 2017), rendering muscovite unimportant as a source of K in soils so long as biotite is present (Sanyal et al. 2009).

Release rates of structural K associated with feldspars are slower than those from micas (Rich 1968). Even then, feldspars, especially the sand-sized fractions, can contribute to plant's K nutrition, as earlier researchers suggested (Rehm and Sorensen 1985; Niebes et al. 1993). However, the weathering and subsequent release of K from micas (even for the easily weathered ones) and feldspars are prolonged processes and at least orders of magnitude slower than the rate of K uptake by plants (Sanyal 2014a).

Based on the rates at which K becomes available for plant uptake, the four pools of soil K can be differentiated as (i) readily or immediately available (soil solution and exchangeable K); (ii) slowly available (non-exchangeable K); and (iii) extremely slowly available (structural K).



2.2 Relative distribution in major soil orders of India

Sizes of K pools in some Inceptisols, Alfisols, and Vertisols of India are listed in Table 1. Dev et al. (2017) studied the relative abundance of different forms of K in some selected series representing alluvial, black and red soils of India. They found that non-exchangeable K is generally more prevalent in illite dominant alluvial soils than smectitic black soils and kaolinitic red soils. Kaolinite dominant red and lateritic soils (broadly fall under the order Alfisols) have low contents of exchangeable and non-exchangeable K pools (Srinivasarao and Srinivas 2017; Das et al. 2019c). Light textured alluvial soils with extensive mica contents (frequently categorized as Inceptisols if not as Entisols) show a medium level of exchangeable K and a high nonexchangeable K content (Srinivasarao and Takkar 1997; Srinivasarao et al. 1997). Smectitic black soils (mainly in the order Vertisols or vertic groups of any other order) with higher clay content and cation exchange capacity (CEC) showed high levels of exchangeable K and medium to high non-exchangeable K content (Srinivasarao et al. 2003).

Based on soil samples from 500 districts of India, Muralidharudu et al. (2011) reported that 49% of soils were high (> 280 kg ha⁻¹), 42% medium (121–280 kg ha⁻¹), and 9% (<120 kg ha⁻¹) were low in available K (NH₄OAc-K). Srinivasarao et al. (2007) reported low exchangeable K (< 50 mg kg⁻¹) in Alfisols of Bangalore, Anantapur, and Ranchi, and Inceptisols of Rakh Dinasar, Ballowal Saunkhri, and Agra. Exchangeable K was in the medium range (50-120 mg kg⁻¹) in Alfisol of Phulbani, Inceptisol of Faizabad, Vertisols of Ajira, and Akola. They observed that Inceptisol of Jhansi, and Vertisols of Bijapur, Bellary, Solapur, Rajkot, Rewa, Indore, and Kovilapatti were high in exchangeable K (>120 mg kg⁻¹). Srinivasarao et al. (2007) also categorized soils across India based on nonexchangeable K extracted by HNO₃. They observed low contents of non-exchangeable K ($< 300 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$) in Alfisols of Bangalore, Anantapur, and Vertisols of Akola, and Bijapur; medium non-exchangeable K (300–600 mg kg⁻¹) in Inceptisols of Rakh Dinasar, and Ballowal Saunkhri, Alfisol of Phulbani, and Vertisols of Bellary, Solapur, Rajkot, Indore, and Kovilapatti; and high non-exchangeable K $(>600 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ in some Inceptisols of Agra, Faizabad, and Jhansi; and Vertisols of Ajira, and Rewa.

Total K content in soils may show variations over depth. For example, surface soils had lower K than sub-surface soils (Sharma et al. 2010). Similarly, relatively higher amounts of available K were found on the surface than in sub-surface soils (Harsha and Jagadeesh 2017a; Sahoo et al. 2020). However, no regular trend was observed in depthwise variation of exchangeable K up to 60 cm from surface in some soils of Assam, India under varying land-use systems (Das et al. 2019a, b).

3 Mining of soil K under intensive cultivation in India

3.1 Reasons behind soil K mining in India

Mining of soil K in agricultural lands occurs when K balance is negative, i.e., removal by the harvested portion of crops exceeds the external K input, including the K recycled back to the ground with crop residues (Sanyal et al. 2014; Majumdar et al. 2017). In India, the removal of K is more or less equivalent to uptake for field crops as their residues are mostly removed from the fields after harvesting (Sanyal et al. 2014). Crop residues and animal excreta (e.g., cowdung) generally find use as a source of energy for cooking and heating in rural areas, rather than recycling them back to the fields (Hasan 2002). Crop residues have plenty of other uses in rural households in India, prompting their removal from the crop fields (Sanval et al. 2014). On top of that, K fertilization is nil or severely inadequate in many parts of the country, including the intensively cultivated areas (Sanyal 2014a). Though local recommendations advocate proper balance among N, P, and K fertilizers, most farmers opt for N only or N and P with little or no K fertilizer (Sanyal 2014b). Surveys conducted in upper- and trans-Gangetic Plains of India revealed that most of the farmers apply N at more than recommended rates, along with P at nearly recommended rates, but apply far more minor than recommended rates of K if applied at all (Singh et al. 2015).

One of the primary reasons behind the neglect of K fertilization in India is the general belief that Indian soils are inherently abundant in K reserves owing to K-containing minerals and can support crops without K fertilization. Secondly, as India is almost 100% dependent on imports for K fertilizers, there has always been an attempt to curtail K fertilization to reduce the burden on the national exchequer (Sanyal 2014a). Next comes the rise in K fertilizer prices after decontrol in August 1992 (from INR 2.83 before decontrol to INR 7.50 kg⁻¹ K₂O after decontrol) and the introduction of nutrient-based subsidy in April 2010 (from INR 8.43 in 2010–2011 to INR 28.33 kg⁻¹ K₂O in 2012–2013), which further worsened the situation (Chander 2017; FAI 2017; Sanyal 2014a). Moreover, farmers are unaware that yield increment due to K fertilization can translate into economic gains, as discussed later (see 5.4 Economics of K fertilizer use). Also, farmers are most likely oblivious of the ongoing soil K mining caused by imbalanced fertilization and its harmful effects on soil fertility and crop productivity. The first two reasons are mainly at the level of policymakers; the rest are at the farmers' level. For these reasons, fertilizer K consumption remained

only ~ 10% of total fertilizer-NPK consumption in India for the last five decades (Majumdar et al. 2017).

In reality, not all soils in India are rich in K-containing minerals, e.g., red and lateritic soils (often classified as kaolinitic Alfisols). Compilation of soil-test data of 500 districts across the country revealed that in ~51% of the cases, soils were low (<120 kg ha⁻¹) to medium (120–280 kg ha⁻¹) in available K (NH₄OAc-K) (Muralidharudu et al. 2011). Also, an abundance of K-containing minerals does not ensure adequate K supply to plants at required rates and at times of highest crop demand (Sanyal et al. 2014; Sanyal 2014a; Majumdar et al. 2016), especially when the micaceous minerals are mostly dioctahedral (Pal 2017).

3.2 Major crops and cropping systems of India and K uptake

As per the estimates for 2015–16, net sown area (NSA) and gross cropped area (GCA) in India were 139.51 and 195.05 million ha (Mha), respectively, with a cropping intensity of ~141% (Anonymous 2019). Cereals have the largest share (~62%) in GCA, followed by oilseeds (~14.4%), pulses ($\sim 11.6\%$), fiber crops (6.56%), vegetables (3.46%), and fruits (2.36%). Individually, rice has the highest share $(\sim 22\%)$ in GCA, followed by wheat $(\sim 16\%)$ (Anonymous 2019). Potassium uptake per unit mass of economic yield, expressed as kg K Mg⁻¹, varies from one crop to another, e.g., ~16 for rice (Buresh et al. 2010); ~19 for wheat (Chuan et al. 2013); ~7 for groundnut (Arachis hypogaea), ~1.2 for sugarcane (Saccharum officinarum), and ~12 for cotton (Gossypium spp.) (Dutta et al. 2013). However, due to the largest area coverage, annual N, P, K uptakes (for 2015–16) at the country scale were highest for cereal crops (Table 2). Table 2 shows annual N, P, K uptake for 2015–16 (at country scale) by different crop groups of India, calculated based on crop production data (2015-16) and nutrient content per unit mass of primary produce. Potassium uptake and balance are strongly influenced by cropping systems. Unless climate and other factors become limiting, two or more crops are usually grown in sequence within a year in much of India (Majumdar et al. 2021).

Over 60% of Indian soils fall under three soil orders, viz. Inceptisols, Alfisols, and Vertisols (Singh and Chandran 2015). Inceptisols have the highest area coverage (39.4%) (Singh and Chandran 2015). These soils are considered to be agriculturally productive and offer outstanding natural grazing grounds. It is cultivated chiefly for grain crops, e.g., rice, wheat, maize (*Zea mays*), and barley; oilseeds, e.g., mustard (*Brassica juncea*); improved pasture and various vegetables and fruits. The range of crops grown varies with agro-climatic zones. A large part of the Inceptisol area belongs to IGP, which in turn occupies nearly 13% of the total geographical area (TGA) of the country (Patil et al. 2014).

Table 2 Annual N, P, K uptake (2015–16) by major crop groups of India (adapted from Tewatia et al. 2017). ^aCalculated based on crop production data (2015–16) and nutrient content per unit mass of main produce; Mt million tonnes, P and K uptakes were obtained from P_2O_5 and K_2O uptakes using division factors of 2.29 and 1.2, respectively.

Crop group	Nutrient uptake ^a (Mt)					
	N	Р	К			
Cereals	6.56	1.344	7.71			
Pulses	1.21	0.121	0.61			
Oilseeds	1.38	0.244	0.93			
Fiber	1.02	0.183	0.70			
Fruits	0.51	0.059	0.88			
Vegetables	0.56	0.089	0.73			
Plantation	0.49	0.045	0.41			
Forage	1.00	0.103	1.03			
Spices	0.18	0.038	0.21			
Sugarcane	0.82	0.205	1.11			
Tuber	0.04	0.007	0.04			
Others	0.02	0.004	0.03			
Total	13.78	2.44	14.37			

Alfisols cover 42.2 Mha area, which is around 13% of the TGA of the country (Bhattacharyya et al. 2013). These soils are generally low in available K content, making it difficult to grow crops without external K input (Srinivasarao et al. 2007). However, these soils are well suited for forestry, grazing, and once cleared, a range of grain crops, fruits, and vegetables can be grown. Alfisols are mainly seen in southern and eastern India, supporting upland rice, wheat, groundnut, and finger-millet (*Eleusine coracana*) based systems (Srinivasarao et al. 2007). Among the major crops grown in Alfisols of southern India, finger-millet is one of the high K demanding crops which can remove K as high as 50 kg ha⁻¹ (in low rainfall areas) to 150 kg ha⁻¹ (under optimum rainfall condition) during its life cycle (Srinivasarao et al. 2014).

The Vertisols are found primarily in Peninsular India, covering 26.6 Mha constituting around 8.1% of the TGA (Singh and Chandran 2015). Groundnut, soybean, cotton, maize, and pigeon pea (*Cajanus cajan*) are the most common crops grown during the rainy season, while crops like safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius*), chickpea (*Cicer arietinum*), sunflower (*Helianthus annuus*), and sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) are preferred during the post-monsoon period (Bhattacharyya et al. 2013). Vertisols are generally high in available K and medium to low in non-exchangeable K, which may get depleted under long-term cropping, especially without adequate K input (Srinivasarao et al. 2007). In addition, neglecting K fertilization in Vertisols (black soils) sometimes caused acute K deficiency in plants grown therein (Gurav et al. 2019).



3.3 Soil K mining under major crops and cropping systems

Averaged over all crop groups of India, Tewatia et al. (2017) calculated a net balance (unit area basis) of $-42.2 \text{ kg K}_2\text{O} \text{ ha}^{-1}$ for 2015–2016. Negative K balance was highest for sugarcane ($-121.2 \text{ kg K}_2\text{O} \text{ ha}^{-1}$), followed by fruits $(-70.9 \text{ kg K}_2\text{O} \text{ ha}^{-1})$, and lowest for pulses $(-14.7 \text{ kg K}_2\text{O} \text{ ha}^{-1})$ (Fig. 3). The negative balance for cereals $(-45.9 \text{ kg } \text{K}_2 \text{O} \text{ ha}^{-1})$ was near the average of all crop groups since cereals account for the most significant portion of GCA in India (Tewatia et al. 2017; Anonymous 2019). Consequently, cereal crops have the most significant impact on the K balance in Indian agriculture. On-farm studies (trials conducted at farmers' fields) on major cropping systems conducted under the aegis of AICRP-IFS across India indicated that K among the primary nutrients is the most neglected in the fertilization schemes followed by farmers (Table 3). Those studies recorded large negative K balances under farmers' fertilizer practices (FFP) irrespective of cropping systems. Interestingly, existing state recommendations (SR) were also not able to prevent soil K mining. However, for most of the cropping systems studied, K mining under FFP was slight to extensively higher compared with SR. Application of deficient secondary and micronutrients along with state recommended NPK (SR+M) caused greater mining of K due to an increase in yield and associated K uptake (Table 3).

The IGP is crucial for agricultural production and the economy in India since it contributes as high as 50% of its food grain production, which helps to feed around 40% of

the country's population (Chandran et al. 2014). However, due to continuous ignorance towards K fertilization, the soils in these areas face accelerated degradation (Majumdar et al. 2017). Rice-wheat (R-W) system, a dominant system in IGP, could remove K from soil to the tune of 325 kg K ha^{-1} (Singh et al. 2003). Moreover, deleterious effects of alternate flooding and drying adopted in the R-W system in these areas have further aggravated K loss from exchange complexes (Ponnamperuma 1972). Singh et al. (2013) observed a decrease in both exchangeable and non-exchangeable K in IGP under the R-W system, where farmers did not add K. Shukla et al. (2005) assessed the NPK balances for the different sub-regions of IGP, viz. trans, upper, middle, and lower IGP. They found that the net balance was negative for each of the three nutrients in all sub-regions, except for N in the middle IGP. For K, the situation was much worse than N and P, as evidenced by its large share in the deficit (82%) compared with 12.5% and 5.5% in the case of P and N, respectively.

3.4 Soil K mining at national scale

State-wise, K balances for the year 2000–01 were calculated by Pathak et al. (2010) based on K inputs from fertilizers, animal manures, composts, crop residues, burned rice straw, rain, and irrigation water, and outputs towards crop K uptake and leaching losses. They estimated a negative K balance of ~ 3.29 Mt for the entire country. The K budget was negative for every state other than Himachal Pradesh, Orissa, Karnataka, and Kerala (Fig. 4). Later, Satyanarayana and Tewatia (2009) attempted to find out the K balances for 2007–08 in India's major agricultural



Fig. 3 Annual net K balance per unit area (expressed as kg K_2O ha⁻¹) for 2015–16 under various crop/crop groups in India (adapted from Tewatia et al. 2017).

Springer INRA

Table 3 Apparent K balance in cultivators' fields under different cropping systems of India (adapted from AICRP-IFS 2012, Majumdar et al. 2017). ^aValues in parentheses indicate the number of trials conducted in that location, ^bFFP, farmers' fertilizer practice; SR state recommendation for N, P and K, SR+M state recommendation for N, P, and K along with secondary and micronutrients needed for that site, ^cBased on K input through fertilizer and K removal by crops, ^dPearl millet: *Pennisetum glaucum*; green gram: *Vigna radiata*.

Cropping system	Location	Nutrient management scheme	Nutrient addition (kg ha ⁻¹) N–P–K	Apparent K balance ^c (kg ha ⁻¹)
Rice-wheat	Kaushambi, Uttar Pradesh (24) ^a	FFP ^b	206–28–0	- 150
		SR	220-48-75	- 85
		SR+M	220-48-75	- 99
Pearl millet ^d -mustard	Deesa, Gujarat (18)	FFP	114-37-0	- 104
		SR	130–39–54	-62
		SR+M	130–39–54	-68
Pearl millet-wheat	Thersa, Gujarat (18)	FFP	130-35-0	-65
		SR	200-44-83	-12
		SR+M	200-44-83	-18
Cotton-pearl millet	Deesa, Gujarat (18)	FFP	202-38-0	- 85
		SR	320-44-83	- 8
		SR+M	320-44-83	- 19
Rice-green gram	Kakdwip, West Bengal (18)	FFP	53-27-34	-95
		SR	100-35-66	-95
		SR+M	100-35-66	-110
Maize-wheat	Kangra, Himachal Pradesh (18)	FFP	50-14-22	-31
		SR	170-38-58	-31
		SR+M	170-38-58	- 39
Maize-Bengal gram (chickpea)	Gadak, Karnataka (24)	FFP	80-38-0	- 133
		SR	110-33-21	- 148
		SR+M	110-33-21	-160
Rice-rice	Warangal, Andhra Pradesh (24)	FFP	298-60-71	- 101
		SR	240-52-66	- 123
		SR+M	240-52-66	- 136

states based on Fertilizer Association of India (FAI)-statistics on K fertilizer consumption and crop K uptake. For some states, they considered K input from irrigation water and/or organic manures, etc., besides fertilizer as K inputs. However, due to the unavailability of data, only fertilizer was considered K input for most (12) of the states. On the output side, authors not only took into account the field crops, but also the K removals by vegetables and fruits for all 16 states, and crops like rubber tree (Hevea brasiliensis), coffee (Coffea spp.), tea (Camelia sinensis), and jute (Corchorus spp.) in states wherever applicable. They observed the highest K mining in the central and western region (~3.19 Mt as K) followed by northern (~2.18 Mt as K), eastern (~1.59 Mt as K), and southern region (~1.11 Mt as K), respectively. Apparent K balances were negative in each state, and the overall K mining for 16 states considered in the study was~8.07 Mt (as K) (Satyanarayana and Tewatia 2009). Considering K input through fertilizers and manures and output through crop removal, Dutta et al. (2013) observed that K balances in most states were negative. In most states, K mining was more in 2011 than that in 2007 (Fig. 5). Their study showed increased K mining in the soils of the north (Punjab, Haryana, and Uttar Pradesh), east (Assam, Bihar, Orissa, Jharkhand, and Chhattisgarh), west and central parts (Gujarat, Rajasthan, and Madhya Pradesh) of India during 2011 as compared to 2007. Gross and net K balances for 2015-2016 for the entire country were ~ 12.3 and ~ 7.2 Mt (as K) on the negative side, respectively (Tewatia et al. 2017). The gross K balance was calculated considering inorganic fertilizer as input and crop K removal as output based on crop production and fertilizer consumption data, and nutrient uptake coefficients gathered from multiple sources (Tandon 2004; Tandon and Muralidharudu 2010; FAI 2016). They made two additional assumptions for the net balance: (i) net K uptake is 60% of gross K uptake, and (ii) fertilizer use efficiency is 70% for K. Information from the national database of the Soil Health Card Scheme (launched in 2015) for eight districts representing intensively cultivated areas of India revealed severe K deficiency in north-western India,



	Orissa	Kerala	Karnataka	Himachal Pradesh	Tripura	Jammu and Kashmir	Assam	West Bengal	Tamil Nadu	Bihar	Andhra Pradesh	Punjab	Gujarat	Haryana	Rajasthan	Maharashtra	Uttar Pradesh	Madhya Pradesh	Others*	All India
0.5	0.073	0.068	0.048	0.033																
0.0					4	2	0												4	
-0.5					-0.00	-0.01	-0.03	-0.131	-0.142	-0.143	-0.147	-0.147	-0.220	-0.269	0.349	459			-0.01	
-1.0														-	Ŷ	Ģ.	-0.718	-0.729		
-1.5																				
-2.0																				
-2.5																				
-3.0																				
-3.5 	 K ba	lan	ce (Mt	yr-1)														-3.295

Fig.4 K balance for 2000–01 in different states of India; K balance=K input (through fertilizer, compost, animal manure, crop residue, burned rice straw, rain, irrigation water) – K output (through crop uptake and other losses); *Others include Delhi, Chandigarh,

Goa, Arunachal Pradesh, Manipur, Meghalaya, Mizoram, Nagaland, Sikkim, Dadra and Nagar Haveli, Daman and Diu, Andaman and Nicobar Islands (Adapted from Pathak et al. 2010).

where K deficiency was not anticipated previously due to the abundance of micaceous minerals (Patra et al. 2017). Notably, in these areas of north-western India, highly negative K balances were observed earlier (Dutta et al. 2013).



The K balances reported by different authors, as mentioned above, cannot be compared among each other as the input and output variables and sources of information were different across the studies. For the same reason, it



Fig. 5 Potassium balance (as K_2O , expressed in thousand tonnes) for (a) 2007 and (b) 2011 across different states of India; balances were calculated based on K input through fertilizer and manure and out-

put through crop removal; NA: data were not available. (Dutta et al. 2013; reproduced with permission from Editor, African Plant Nutrition Institute).

cannot be said with certainty from the existing data that the K balance has become more negative in India over the years. Nonetheless, it is undeniable that significant K mining has been occurring in the agricultural soils of India for a long.

4 Implications of neglecting K fertilization: lessons from long-term experiments

Long-term fertilizer experiments (LTFEs) provide ideal platforms to assess the negative impacts of neglecting K fertilization on soil K supplying capacity and crop productivity, as the same may not become visible over the short-term. Therefore, the present discussion mainly highlights the findings of long-term experiments conducted in different parts of India, primarily representing Inceptisols, Alfisols, and Vertisols. These three orders account for over 60% of Indian soils (Sing and Chandran 2015). Equivalent situations in other parts of the world have also been briefly discussed.

4.1 Apparent K balance and depletion of soil K pools

Percent change per year (over initial content) in NH_4OAc-K as observed under NP (representing 100% recommended rate of N and P fertilizer application without K) in LTFEs at different locations reveal the decline in readily available K pools due to long-term neglect of K fertilization irrespective of soil orders (Fig. 6). The only exception was the Parbhani site, where a slight increase in NH₄OAc-K was observed. In general, the rate of decline (with respect to the initial value) was noticeably higher in Alfisols (-1.57% year⁻¹, an average of three locations) than Vertisols (-0.62% year⁻¹, an average of three locations) or Inceptisols (-0.61% year⁻¹, an average of three locations). Such variation among soil orders could be due to several factors, e.g., K balance, rate of replenishment of soil solution and exchangeable K pools by non-exchangeable K, and the initial content of NH₄OAc-K. Nonetheless, intensive cropping without K fertilization would decline soil K availability. Besides exchangeable K, long-term neglect of K fertilization under intensive cropping can also cause a noticeable decline in the non-exchangeable K content of soils (Table 4). As one would anticipate, the annual apparent K balance was negative under NP for each of the LTFEs located at New Delhi (Inceptisol), Ranchi (Alfisol), and Jabalpur (Vertisol). Although apparent, such negative K balances could cause a noticeable decline in exchangeable (30.9-47.4% across soil orders) and nonexchangeable K (12.9-24.2% across soil orders) compared with adjacent uncultivated soil (or reference soil) after more than four decades of intensive cropping (Table 4). As already discussed, most Indian farmers apply N at or more than recommended rates and P mostly at recommended rates. In





Fig. 6 Percentage of change per year (over initial) in NH_4OAc-K under intensive cultivation without or with K fertilization as observed in long-term fertilizer experiments at different locations representing Inceptisols, Alfisols and Vertisols; figures within parenthesis indicate

comparison, K at much less than recommended rates or do not apply at all, and commonly do not return crop residues to the fields. Hence, based on the observations from LTFEs, it will not be wrong to speculate that most Indian soils have already lost a substantial part of their inherent K reserves, the number of years of cultivation (i.e., the duration of the experiment considered), based on percent change per year was calculated. (Adapted from Singh et al. 2017).

and the same will go on unchecked if proper K management is not given due cognizance.

Interestingly, even with K fertilization at recommended rates, there was a decline in NH_4OAc -K on multiple occasions (Fig. 6). Data from LTFEs spread across the country representing Inceptisols, Alfisols and Vertisols showed

Table 4 Annual apparent K balance and percent change in exchangeable and non-exchangeable K over adjacent uncultivated soil due to long-term cropping without or with K fertilization at three LTFE sites (Adapted from Singh et al. 2017; Das 2018b; Das et al. 2019c). ^aTextural class: sandy clay loam, ^bClay, ^cCalculated based on apparent K balance of 34 years (for the Inceptisol) or

44 years (for the Alfisol and Vertisol) as reported by Singh et al. (2017), ${}^{d}EK$, exchangeable K; NEK, non-exchangeable K (extracted by NaBPh₄ for 4 h), ${}^{e}\%$ change over uncultivated soil = 100 × (Value of a parameter under a given treatment-value of the parameter in uncultivated soil).

```
Value of the parameter in uncultivated soil
```

Soil order	Location	Depth (cm)	Years of	Cropping system	Annual	Annual apparent K balance (kg ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹) ^c		% Change over uncultivated soil ^e					
			cropping		K balan ha ⁻¹ yea			EK ^d					
					NP	NPK	NP	NPK	NP	NPK			
Inceptisol	New Delhi	0–15 ^a	43	Maize-wheat	-248	-228	- 30.9	-13.5	-13.2	-5.8			
		15-30 ^a					-31.4	-17.3	-23.6	-12.9			
Alfisol	Ranchi	0–15 ^a	42	Soybean-wheat	-63	-27	-47.4	-35.3	-22.8	-12.5			
		15-30 ^a					- 39.7	-27.7	-12.9	- 3.0			
Vertisol	Jabalpur	0-15 ^b	42	Soybean-wheat	- 195	-209	-44.8	-20.8	-24.2	-25.7			
		15-30 ^b					- 30.9	-13.5	-13.2	-5.8			

Fig. 7 Effect of nutrient management practices on apparent K balance observed in long-term experiments in (a) Inceptisols after 15 and 44 years; (b) Alfisols, and (c) Vertisols after 20 and 44 years. Control: no fertilizer or manure applied; NP: recommended rate of N and P applied through fertilizer; NPK: recommended rate of N, P and K applied through fertilizer; NPK+FYM: NPK+ farmyard manure applied once in a year to the wet season crop; rates of N, P, K and FYM varied among locations (Adapted from Singh et al. 2017). Note: Inceptisols: 15-year data are from Jagtial, Telangana with rice-rice system and 44-year data are from Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu with finger millet-maize system. Alfisols: 20-year data are from Pattambi, Kerala with ricerice system and 44-year data are from Ranchi, Jharkhand with soybean-wheat system. Vertisols: 20-year data are from Raipur, Chhattisgarh with rice-wheat system and 44-year data are from Jabalpur, Madhya Pradesh with soybean-wheat system.



negative apparent K balances not only when K fertilization was not done but also when K fertilizer at the recommended rate was applied without or with FYM (Fig. 7). The extent of negative K balance varied from one soil to another depending on the crop, its productivity in a particular soil, and the K fertilizer recommendation for that site. Generally, the more the productivity, the more is the K uptake, and the greater is the extent of negative K balance (Singh et al. 2017). In 10 LTFE sites (3 each with Inceptisols and Alfisols, and 4 with Vertisols), apparent K balance varied from -26 to -63, -72to -245, and -150 to -248 kg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ under NP in Alfisols, Vertisols, and Inceptisols, respectively. Under NPK, the



respective ranges for Alfisols, Vertisols, and Inceptisols were 16 to -60, -108 to -209, and -87 to -228 kg ha⁻¹ vear⁻¹ (Singh et al. 2017). Overall soil fertility and crop productivity in Alfisols are generally lower than Inceptisols and Vertisols in India (Pal 2017), for which the extent of negative K balance was also lower there. Corresponding to negative apparent K balances, Das (2018b) and Das et al. (2019c) observed a decline in exchangeable as well as nonexchangeable K (compared with adjacent uncultivated soils) to the tune of 13.5–35.3% and 3–25.7%, respectively, at three LTFE sites under NPK treatment (Table 4). At those LTFEs, the impact of >4 decades of intensive cropping with varying nutrient supply options on total K was non-significant (at P=0.05) (Das 2018b; Das et al. 2019c), implying that structural K pool had negligible involvement in K supply to plants over the years.

In 9 of the above mentioned 10 LTFE sites, apparent K balances were negative even when FYM (which contains $\sim 0.5\%$ K) was applied (at the rate of 5–15 Mg ha⁻¹ annually) along with the recommended rate of K fertilizer. In some instances, apparent K balance under NPK+FYM was more negative than NPK or even NP (Singh et al. 2017). For example, at the Jabalpur-LTFE site, apparent K balance averaged over 44 years was -237 kg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ under NPK + FYM as against – 209 and – 195 kg ha^{-1} year⁻¹ under NPK and NP, respectively. Corresponding to that slightly lower nonexchangeable K contents were observed under NPK+FYM (852 and 895 mg kg⁻¹ at 0–15 and 15–30 cm, respectively) as compared to NPK (868 and 903 mg kg⁻¹ at 0–15 and 15–30 cm, respectively) or NP (886 and 920 mg kg⁻¹ at 0–15 and 15-30 cm, respectively) after 42 years of intensive cropping (Das 2018b). Such a situation occurs when the increments in yields and associated K uptakes due to manuring are more than the additional K input from the FYM applied. Nonetheless, such decline in soil K pools, especially the nonexchangeable pool, even under recommended rates of K fertilization, underlines the inadequacy of current K fertilizer recommendations in maintaining the original soil K fertility status under conditions of long-term intensive cropping.

Sometimes, negative apparent K balance might correspond to an increase in NH₄OAc-K, as observed in a longterm experiment (27 years) conducted on a K-deficient Alfisol from southern India under finger-millet mono-cropping (Srinivasarao et al. 2014). Irrespective of treatments, which were control (no amendments), FYM, FYM + 50% NPK, FYM + 100% NPK and 100% NPK (no organic source), K removal by crop was more than that added through FYM or fertilizer or their combination. Despite, NH₄OAc-K increased by ~ 18% and ~ 39% (over initial content of ~ 59 mg kg⁻¹) under FYM + 50% NPK and FYM + 100% NPK, respectively after 27 years of cropping. Over that supplied through external inputs and the exchangeable K, non-exchangeable K pool met the crop K demand (Srinivasarao et al. 2014).



Li et al. (2017a) reported a decline in NH₄OAc-K after 25 years of wheat-maize cropping with heavy inputs of N and P fertilizers in an alluvial soil of China. They also observed greater depletions in the non-exchangeable pool with increasing N and P applications over unfertilized control in the surface layer (0-20 cm). However, long-term cropping with different fertilization or tillage had little impact on the structural K pool (Li et al. 2017a). After two decades of wheat-maize cropping in a light textured soil (Calcaric Cambisol) of China, Zhao et al. (2014) observed a significant depletion in non-exchangeable K at surface soil (0-20 cm) in no-K treatments (NP or NP + straw) compared with initial the content. In contrast, the same increased with K fertilizer addition (NPK or NPK + straw). Thus, long-term skipping of K input resulted in the transformation of interlayer K into available K, which was then taken up by the plants and removed from the soil with harvested biomass.

4.2 Alteration of clay minerals

Long-term neglect of K fertilization under intensive cropping can also alter clay minerals by transforming mica or illite to vermiculite, smectite, and interstratified minerals with lower layer charge. In an LTFE site at New Delhi (Inceptisol), after 43 years of intensive cultivation, mica content in clay at 0–15 cm of NP plot was found to be ~42% as against ~ 51%in NPK plot and ~ 54% in adjacent uncultivated soil (Das 2018b). In another LTFE located at Ranchi (Alfisol), at the end of 42 cropping cycles, lesser illite in NP (~8% at 0-15 cm and ~7% at 15-30 cm) as compared to NPK (~14% at 0-15 cm and ~10% at 15-30 cm) was observed in clay fraction (Das et al. 2019c). Associated with it, illite-kaolinite interstratified minerals under NP ($\sim 69\%$) were more than that under NPK (~59%) at 0-15 cm. At 15-30 cm, NP recorded more vermiculite-illite interstratified minerals (~10%) than NPK ($\sim 6\%$). A more alarming fact observed in this study was that the illite content of clay even under NPK+FYM was noticeably lower than adjacent uncultivated soil at 0-15 and 15-30 cm depths (Das et al. 2019c). Similarly, in the LTFE site at Jabalpur (Vertisol), after 42 years of cropping, mica content in clay (at 0-15 cm as well as 15-30 cm depths) showed a noticeable decline under NP (~15–19%), or NPK (~12%) or even NPK+FYM (~12-15%) as compared to adjacent uncultivated soil (~24–37%) (Das 2018b). In all those sites, apparent K balances were negative under NP, NPK and NPK + FYM (Singh et al. 2017). Although the contents of clay minerals reported in these studies were semi-quantitative, there is a clear indication that soil K mining under intensive cropping for a long time is likely to cause alterations in K-bearing clay minerals. Such alterations are manifested primarily as loss of micaceous minerals and their subsequent transformation into vermiculite or interstratified minerals like vermiculite-illite and illite-kaolinite. If allowed to go unchecked for a long time, alterations in micaceous minerals due to continued depletion of interlayer K could be irreversible and would have far-reaching adverse impacts on K supplying capacity in particular and soil health in general (Sanyal et al. 2014; Das et al. 2019c).

Fifteen years of cropping (with various summer and winter season crops) in a field without K addition followed by exhaustive cropping in a greenhouse (different crops in succession) again without K input led to the depletion of non-exchangeable K pool and resulted in the transformation of illite to vermiculite in a Brazilian Ultisol (Moterle et al. 2016). They observed that growing crops without K input practically deteriorated the illite. After 32 years of cultivation with a rotation of soybean, maize, wheat, and oats (*Avena strigosa*) on a Brazilian Oxisol, Firmano et al. (2020) observed a decrease in the crystallinity of K-bearing 2:1 phyllosilicates in the clay fraction under no K fertilization for the entire period.

Overall, K-exhaustive conditions induced by long-term cropping with no or inadequate K input result in a noticeable decrease in exchangeable and non-exchangeable pools but have a small or negligible effect on the structural pool associated with primary minerals. Under constant exhaustion of K in soil, plants create a strong gradient in the rhizosphere, which can promote the release of K⁺ from edge/wedge as well as deep interlayers of K-bearing 2:1 minerals, especially in the clay separates, thereby causing their alteration into other minerals. At the same time, such changes are mostly irreversible.

5 Sustainable management of potassium in agriculture

Developing effective K management strategies that could help reduce K losses and somehow return the depleted K to the soil to meet crop demand is vital for agricultural sustainability. Various aspects of K management are discussed hereunder:

5.1 Correct evaluation of soil K available for crops

An efficient K fertilizer recommendation would ensure optimal quantity and suitable proportions of K supply to meet crop requirement, help develop the desired balance of K in soil, and assure higher use efficiency of K and other nutrients (e.g., N). Presently, recommendations of K fertilizer rates are based on the crop to be grown and soil K fertility assessed by neutral normal NH₄OAc, which extracts the water-soluble and exchangeable fractions only. Such recommendations have often been found inadequate under intensive cultivation and unsuccessful in highlighting cropping-induced changes in soil K (Singh et al. 2017; Das et al. 2018; 2019c, d). This is due to the contribution of the non-exchangeable pool of K in soil towards plant uptake, which assumes more importance in soils low in NH₄OAc-K (Dhar and Sanyal 2000; Ghorban 2007). This is why some earlier workers have also included non-exchangeable K to evaluate better the available K (Rao et al. 1993; Srinivasarao et al. 2001). To include the non-exchangeable pool of K in defining soil K status, Srinivasarao et al. (2007) classified many Indian soils into low, medium and high categories based on exchangeable and nonexchangeable K pool sizes, where the non-exchangeable K was extracted by boiling nitric acid method. Li et al. (2015b) observed that the NaBPh₄ method is way more specific to non-exchangeable K than the conventional boiling nitric acid method, as, in the former, >99% of extracted K is released through cation exchange as against~85-87% of extracted K released through cation exchange (the rest through the dissolution of the mineral structure) by boiling nitric acid method. In the future, researchers should opt for the NaBPh₄ method, instead of the conventional nitric acid method, to categorize soils for their non-exchangeable K status and ensure sufficient extraction time so that no part of interlayer K is missed out. Besides, upcoming research should focus on fractionation of the entire non-exchangeable pool based on plant availability (Wang et al. 2016).

The NaBPh₄ extraction method, though more specific than boiling nitric acid towards non-exchangeable K (Li et al. 2015b), and many times showed better predictions of plant K uptake than NH₄OAc (Cox et al. 1999; Bilias and Barbayiannis 2017; Bilias et al. 2021), is not entirely flawless. This method cannot predict the actual quantity of diffusion derived non-exchangeable K that plants can uptake (Núñez and Morón 2017), a problem common to all methods involving chemical extraction (Logan and Chaney 1983; Menon et al. 1989). In this context, cation exchange resins might prove useful in appropriately assessing the availability of soil K to plants. Cation exchange resins with high CEC can act as a sink for soil solution K and the non-exchangeable K released for plant uptake (Helmke and Sparks 1996). The amount of K extracted with H-saturated resin could be comparable with that extracted by acid treatment, but it is far less dangerous than acid extraction with respect to the breakdown of mineral structure (Arvieu and Chaussidon 1964). In the past, cation exchange resins have shown their ability to mimic plant K uptake by reflecting solution K activity and diffusion rate (Schaff and Skogley 1982; Skogley and Schaff 1985; Buck et al. 2016). Recently, Bilias et al. (2021) observed that K extracted by H-resin could predict plant K uptake from soils containing K-fixing 2:1 clay minerals with good accuracy ($r^2 = 0.63$ or 0.69, p < 0.001). More or less similar prediction accuracy ($r^2 = 0.65$ or 0.67, p < 0.001) was obtained with NaBPh₄ with extraction time of 1 or 5 min. Thus, to aim for the plant available part of non-exchangeable K, one can choose between NaBPh₄ with a short extraction period (i.e., 1 or 5 min) and H-saturated resin; whereas, to



estimate the entire non-exchangeable K reserve, NaBPh₄ method with sufficient extraction time (10–20 days) should be the approach. Extraction of soil K with low molecular weight organic acids, e.g., citric, oxalic, malic, and tartaric, can also mimic the action of plant roots. The hydronium (H₃O⁺) ions generated by dissociation of organic acids can replace K⁺ from planar sites and clay inter-layers; acid's anionic part complexes the K⁺ in solution and inhibits sorption on the solid phase. Hosseinpur et al. (2014) studied K release up to 168 h using 0.01 M citric acid. The associated release rate constants were significantly correlated with bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) yield, and K uptake studied over 15 different soils of Iran.

Fixation and release of K play an important role in K supply to plants in soils having considerable amounts of 2:1 minerals in the clay fraction, which is not considered in the existing K fertilizer recommendation methods (Das et al. 2018; Bilias and Barbayiannis 2019a, b). Thresholds of K fixation and release in the soil can help decide the rate of K fertilization for crop production. Datta and Sastry (1989) and later Datta (2005) described the methodology for the determination of fixation threshold level (FTL) and release threshold level (RTL) of soils. The FTL is the level of soil solution or exchangeable K, beyond which K fixation into the non-exchangeable pool starts. In contrast, RTL is the level of soil solution or exchangeable K, below which release from non-exchangeable pool initiates (Datta 2005). Based on this approach, the K fertilization rate that could maintain soil solution or exchangeable K at an optimal level between the FTL and RTL seems viable. It would support K nutrition of plants without causing mining from or fixation into the non-exchangeable pool (Das et al. 2018; Datta 2005). This approach could be improved further by considering the actual K requirement of the crops to be grown. Li et al. (2016) developed a soil bioavailability grading system for K based on plant growth indices and soil K release rate. They built a relationship between the potential soil capacity for sustainable plant growth and the availability of K without additional K fertilizer to describe the release of K in soil.

Recently, exchangeable and non-exchangeable K extraction methods were clubbed with quantity-intensity (Q/I) parameters, CEC, and illite-K to establish an approach based on the thermodynamic parameters obtained from Q/I relationships for predicting the availability of K (Bilias and Barbayiannis 2019a). However, despite better accuracy being provided by the Q/I technique than the existing method for predicting soil K availability, generating multipoint-Q/I relationships is laborious and time-taking and is not fit for routine soil testing. Fortunately, it has been possible to predict different Q/I parameters with a singlepoint (using 10 mg K L⁻¹ in 0.01 M CaCl₂ for equilibration) method for a wide variety of soils (concerning K status), where CEC and Gapon selectivity coefficient could further increase the accuracy of prediction (Bilias and Barbayiannis 2020).

5.2 Sources of K in agriculture

5.2.1 Fertilizers

Conventional fertilizer sources, e.g., muriate of potash (MOP) and sulphate of potash (SOP), are often relied upon for meeting the immediate need of plants for K. However, for K fertilizers, India is entirely dependent on imports, which is a massive burden on the national exchequer. Moreover, though K from the water-soluble fertilizers (e.g., MOP, SOP) is readily available to plants, it is also prone to leaching losses, mainly in sandy soils with low clay and organic matter content (Alfaro et al. 2004). Besides, K mineral reserves used in K fertilizer production are not infinite and might get exhausted amid the increasing demand created by intensive cultivation. Hence, sustainable alternative sources of K should be searched to achieve self-sufficiency in K nutrition in Indian agriculture. This calls for a gradual transmission from K fertilizers to indigenous K sources such as crop residues, manures, wood ash, distillery wastes, coir waste, and indigenous low-grade K-bearing minerals, to replenish the soil K (Aziz et al. 2010; Basak and Sarkar 2017). Some of the non-conventional sources of K and their effectiveness in growing crops are outlined in Table 5.

5.2.2 Crop residues

Crop residues containing 1% or more K, e.g., rice straw (~1.75% K), wheat straw (~1% K), sugarcane bagasse (~1.2% K), oat straw (~1.5% K), and tobacco (Nicotiana spp.) stems ($\sim 7\%$ K), can serve as a sustainable alternative source of K in agriculture (Basak and Sarkar 2017). After harvesting grain crops, around 50-70% of total biomass is left as residues, which would add a substantial amount of K therein if returned to the soil. However, decomposition and subsequent release of nutrients from straw are time-taking processes in the field, so the positive effects of straw-return on soil K status and crop yields may not be visible over shortterm periods (Brunetto et al. 2011; Partey et al. 2011). Nevertheless, over the long term, straw-return could alleviate soil K depletion under intensive cropping, enhance soil K status and increase crop yields (Zhao et al. 2014). Crop residues could be directly incorporated into the soil, converted to compost or biochar before soil application, or retained on the surface as a part of conservation agriculture to use them as K source (Singh and Sidhu 2014; Katyal 2020).

Source of K Location Organics Location Organics Organics Crop residue (wheat straw Nanjing, Cl and cotton residue) Jharnapani and cotton residue) Jharnapani alvarezii) extract Jharnapani Minerals New Delhi Waste mica New Delhi						
Organics Crop residue (wheat straw Nanjing, Ch and cotton residue) Seaweed (<i>Kappaphycus</i> Jharnapani <i>alvarezii</i>) extract Minerals Waste mica New Delhi	on S	oil/medium properties	Crop	Treatment	Salient findings	Reference
Seaweed (<i>Kappaphycus</i> Jharnapani <i>alvarezii</i>) extract Minerals Waste mica New Delhi	g, China C	Jay loam, pH 5.7, exchangeable K 134 mg kg ⁻¹	Wheat and cotton	Wheat straw (0.9 Mg ha ⁻¹) and cotton residue (0.7 Mg ha ⁻¹)	98% increase in crop K uptake over control where no residue or K fertilizer was added	Sui et al. (2017)
Waste mica New Delhi	Dani C	lay loam, pH 4.8, available K 124 mg kg ⁻¹	Soybean	Foliar spray of extract (15%) 1	Enhanced grain and straw yields over control with highest K uptake	Rathore et al. (2009)
	elhi O	Jay loam (Hazaribagh, Jharkhand) pH 6.13, avail- able K 61.4 mg kg ⁻¹	Sudan grass	Waste mica (100 mg kg ⁻¹)	Significantly higher K uptake and biomass yield over control	Basak and Biswas (2010)
Polyhaute Northern V	rn Vietnam S	ilt loam, pH 5.0, total K 0.58 g kg ⁻¹	Cabbage	MOP ^a and polyhalite at 1:1 1 ratio for supplying 120 kg K_2O ha ⁻¹	Increased profit by 64% over farmers' practice by significantly reducing K fertilizer requirement and increasing yield	Tien et al. (2021)
Organics + microbial culture Crop resi- due + FYM ^b + bioferti- lizer Mineral + microbial culture	r, Uttar Pradesh S	àndy loam, pH 8.1, avail- able K 81 mg kg ⁻¹	Maize-wheat	100% crop residue incorporation + FYM (5 Mg ha ⁻¹) + biofertilizer	Significantly higher crop K uptake over control	Venkatesh et al. (2017)
Waste mica + KSB° (Bacil- Jorhat, Ass lus pseudomycoides)	Assam S	andy clay loam, pH 4.84, exchangeable K 73.5 mg kg ⁻¹	Tea	Waste mica (50 kg K ₂ O ha ⁻¹) + KSB (500 L ha ⁻¹)	Significantly higher K uptake, plant growth and exchangeable K content in soil over application of waste mica without KSB	Pramanik et al. (2019)

5.2.3 Manures and composts

Organic manures and composts, though they are used mainly to enhance organic matter content and overall fertility of soils, can also act as alternative sources of K depending on their K content, which varies primarily based on their ingredients and preparation method (Hue and Silva 2000; Das et al. 2015; Basak and Sarkar 2017). For instance, farmyard manure or FYM (~0.5% K), poultry manure (~1.5-3% K), pig manure (~0.5-1.2% K), urban/rural composts (~0.5–2% K), night soil (~0.4% K), oil cakes (~0.8-1.4% K), fish meal (~1.5% K), etc., could be used to boost up soil fertility and to supplement K fertilizers in agriculture (Hue 1995; Tandon 1995; Basak and Sarkar 2017). Furthermore, field experiments have shown the positive influence of NPK + FYM in maintaining K-supply and available K fractions in soils better than that of imbalanced fertilization (without K) (Jadhao et al. 2018; Das et al. 2018; 2019c).

5.2.4 Minerals

Suggestions to use silicate rocks bearing K-containing minerals as sources of K are not new. Tectosilicates like orthoclase (~16% K), microcline (~16% K); and phyllosilicates like muscovite (~12% K), biotite (~6–10% K), phlogopite (~7–10% K), glauconite (~5–8% K) are some of the K containing minerals which can prove useful as alternative K source (Shirale et al. 2019). Direct use of these rocks is sometimes considered more acceptable and cost-effective instead of using them to produce K fertilizers (Manning 2010). However, due to the very low solubility of silicate rocks, if applied directly, the rate of release of K from such sources could be far less than what is required for proper plant nutrition. Bio-activation through K solubilizing or silicate dissolving microorganisms could help attain a desirable K release rate from these sources. Though K bearing minerals are far less effective than conventional fertilizers (e.g., MOP, SOP) in terms of providing readily available K, the former could supply enough amount of K over a long-term period to fetch agronomic benefits, especially in highly weathered soils prone to leaching (Basak and Sarkar 2017). Milled syenite (silicate rock with K-feldspar as the dominant mineral) has been described as a possible K source from which plants can obtain K conveniently (Manning et al. 2017). Studies on phyllosilicate minerals as K sources revealed that biotite and vermiculite could be applied directly, while illite can be used effectively combined with conventional soluble K sources (Li et al. 2015a). In India, some low-grade indigenous K-bearing minerals can be used as an alternative source of K for growing crops, especially in highly weathered soils, e.g., Alfisols, Oxisols, which are inherently low in K reserves (Basak and Sarkar 2017). One



such example is glauconite-rich greensand, which can be used as a slow-release K fertilizer more effectively in acid soils. As of 1 April 2015, India had ~ 2500 Mt of glauconite reserves (Anonymous 2018). This could be used in combination with other K sources for K supply to crops. Around 16% improvement in potato yield was observed with greensand application in a coarse-textured soil with low organic matter (Heckman and Tedrow 2004). Another such indigenous K source could be waste mica (~6.5-10% K), generated in huge quantities as a by-product of the electrical industry. With proper modification through biological or chemical means, waste mica can be effectively used in agriculture as a K source (Nishanth and Biswas 2008). Waste mica applied directly after grinding could improve biomass yield of Sudan grass (Sorghum vulgare var. Sudanese) compared with no fertilization, whereas with suitable bio-inoculation, waste mica could further increase the biomass yield (Basak and Biswas 2009). Besides silicates, a potential K source for use in agriculture could be polyhalite, which is found in sedimentary marine evaporates. It contains ~ 12% K apart from ~ 12% Ca, ~ 6% Mg, and ~ 19% S (Sirius Minerals 2016). It showed a beneficial effect on yield and oil content of mustard (Brassica nigra) (Tiwari et al. 2015); also increased yields and quality of produce in cauliflower (Brassica oleracea var. botrytis) and cabbage (Brassica oleracea var. capitata) than fertilization with equivalent amounts of soluble fertilizers (Satisha and Ganeshamurthy 2016). India has around 16,000 Mt of polyhalite reserves (Anonymous 2018). This highlights the vast scope of this mineral for use in agriculture as a K source.

5.2.5 Potassium solubilizing bacteria

Potassium solubilizing bacteria (KSB) can facilitate the release of insoluble K through complex formation and exchange reactions from the fixed K or the structural pools (Meena et al. 2015; Ahmad et al. 2016; Etesami et al. 2017). A wide array of species in genera Bacillus, Burkholderia, Acidithiobacillus, Paenibacillus, and Pseudomonas have shown promising results in solubilizing unavailable and slowly available K for meeting crop K requirements (Sheng and Huang 2002; Sheng and He 2006; Uroz et al. 2007; Sangeeth et al. 2012). These bacteria can be applied without or with a K source like waste mica for satisfactory results (Basak and Biswas 2009; Nath et al. 2017). Several potculture studies (e.g., Han and Lee 2005; Badr et al. 2006; Sugumaran and Janarthanam 2007; Basak and Biswas 2009, 2010) and a few field studies (Badr 2006; Supanjani et al. 2006) have shown the positive effect of KSB on increasing yields and K uptake by crops. However, in our opinion, application of KSB without any external K source like waste mica could have a detrimental effect on soil health as KSB would dissolve or alter the K-bearing minerals present in soil and cause soil K mining. Furthermore, even though they are applied in association with an external K source, it is still unclear if the solubilization is limited only to the added K source. In this regard, future studies should attempt to quantify both the positive and negative effects of using KSB without or with an external K source (e.g., waste mica or glauconite) on soil health and crop performance.

5.3 Time and method of application

The timing of K fertilizer application is mostly crop- and sitespecific. Since K is relatively immobile in the soil, K fertilizers are usually added during land preparation before sowing. However, the mobility of K ions within the soil can be affected by the heterogeneity of soil types in terms of CEC and texture. Owing to its luxury consumption, recommendations for K are based on a combination of factors viz. targeted yield of a crop, status of soil K, climatic conditions, management practices, the stage and season of plant growth. Although heavy dressing of K every few years might be more effective, a frequent light application can be more advantageous in reducing the luxury consumption of K in some plants. This could also help in reducing excessive K loss by leaching and fixation before plant uptake (Brady and Weil 2012).

Generally, K fertilizers are broadcasted and mixed with surface soil. Band placement is recommended only in soils with a low level of available K or in soils with high K-fixing capacity (Subba Rao and Brar 2009). The split application appears as an alternative to basal application in some situations (Mahfuza et al. 2008). In addition, cotton and other high K-requiring crops benefit from pre-plant soil application and/or mid-season side-dressing (Singh et al. 2021). Adjusting the time and method of K application can improve K use efficiency in farming systems that use foliar or fertigation techniques. Fertigation using a drip irrigation system can increase water and K use efficiency (Volenec et al. 2021). Because of infrastructural limitations, such approaches are best for high-value plantation crops, e.g., fruit trees. Fertigation in fruit trees resulted in similar downward movement of K in the soil as that of broadcasting, but the lateral movement of K was better with fertigation than broadcasting (Neilsen et al. 1999). Deep placement (~8–10 cm) of K fertilizer can be effective in high rainfall areas prone to runoff losses, e.g., pocket method, where fertilizer is put in or around planting pockets (Aune et al. 2017). Band placement of K fertilizer is more efficient than broadcasting in soils having high K fixing capacity (Anonymous 1998).

5.4 Economics of K fertilizer use

Depending on crop and soil characteristics, response to applied K varies widely. Inadequate or no K fertilization not only affects the soil K fertility but could also cause yield declines and associated economic losses. Numerous studies on the integration of K, N and P have shown a remarkable increase in productivity and net return (Table 6). Long-term experiments at various locations in India showed that crop response to applied K fertilizer varied from 2 to 18% of total NPK response in Inceptisol sites, 2-28% of total NPK response in Vertisol sites, but as high as 26-88% of total NPK response in the sites having Alfisol (Singh and Wanjari 2018). On-farm nutrient response studies in the IGP by Majumdar et al. (2012) showed that no application of K decreased average yields of rice, wheat, and maize to the tune of 622, 715 and 700 kg ha^{-1} , respectively, and the corresponding economic return in these crops was reasonably high. For instance, the return for every INR invested on K was INR 5.5 for rice, INR 4.5 for wheat, and INR 3.3 for maize (Majumdar et al. 2012). However, the profitability of K fertilizer use depends on yield increment per unit K input, the unit cost

Crop/cropping system	Location	Yield without K (t ha ⁻¹)	Yield with K (t ha ⁻¹)	% Yield increase over no K	Value of increased return (INR ha ⁻¹) ^a	Reference
Maize-wheat	New Delhi	9.0 ^b	11.3 ^b	25.4	32,760	Raghavendra et al. (2020)
Finger-millet	Ramanagara, Karnataka	3.38	3.98	17.7	8555	Sundaresh and Basavaraja (2017)
Rice	Katni, Madhya Pradesh	3.91	5.98	52.9	66,800	Panwar et al. (2018)
	Indo Gangetic Plain	4.08	4.70	15.2	6210	Majumdar et al. (2017)
Hybrid rice	Kakdwip, West Bengal	4.08	7.56	85.3	28,600	Banerjee et al. (2018)
Wheat	Bichpuri, Agra	8.5 ^c	9.7 ^c	14.3	8479	Kumar et al. (2015)
Groundnut	Bhubaneswar, Odisha	1.25	1.56	24.8	11,638	Mohapatra et al. (2013)

Table 6 Effect of K application on yield and economics in various crops/ cropping systems. ^aValue of increased return = Net return on yield with K - Net return on yield without K; INR Indian rupee, ^bSystem productivity, ^cPooled data of 2 years (2008–09 and 2009–10).



of K input, and the price fetched per unit of crop output. Farmers, particularly those in developing countries, are generally assumed not to make extensive use of fertilizer unless the price of the additional output is more than twice the cost of nutrient input (benefit: cost or B: C ratio > 2) (Shand 2007). Under shortage of credit and high interest rates and/or severe climatic risks, farmers go for only those inputs having a very high B: C ratio. However, complete dependence on the B: C ratio can be misleading as high ratios can occur with low yields caused by low nutrient application levels like that observed with K. Hence, even if not as fertilizer, adequate K input at least through other means must be there to maintain the soil health under intensive cropping systems to ensure sustainability. Moreover, crop response to applied K often increases over time, so establishing economic returns of K fertilization from one-year data would be unwise. Therefore, the longterm application of adequate K inputs in agriculture would surely help maintain soil health, fetch better farm income, and contribute towards agricultural sustainability.

6 Suggestions for stakeholders

Based on the preceding discussion, the following suggestions can be made to decide upon the future line of work on soil K dynamics and K management of intensive agricultural systems in India:

- (i) Research should be carried out to develop precise methods of determining K requirement during crop growth for different soil types and climates, through conducting small field trials with different K levels and monitoring leaf K content with cheap portable sensors (like Horiba® Cardy K⁺ meter). This follows from the fact that portable specific ion electrodes provide a quick and cost-effective way of assessing K concentration in plant tissue and soil solution at the field level (Gangaiah et al. 2016).
- (ii) The K balance sheets reported in India are primarily apparent rather than actual as only K removal by the harvested portion of crops and input through fertilizers or manures is considered. At the same time, factors like losses through leaching or erosion and additions through irrigation water, rainfall, capillary rise, etc., are mostly ignored. In the future, researchers should attempt to prepare more accurate K balance sheets by including all the probable input and output pathways. Such balance sheets would be specific to a particular crop or cropping system and the soil type.
- (iii) The existing K fertilizer recommendations should be refined by including non-exchangeable K. Suggestions to have non-exchangeable K in soil testing

for proper assessment of soil K supplying capacity under intensive cropping and more reliable fertilizer recommendation are not new. However, as already discussed, the conventional method of using boiling nitric acid is not exclusive to the non-exchangeable pool only but also includes some structural K by mineral dissolution. Hence, the NaBPh₄ method would be a better choice for including the non-exchangeable K in soil testing. Nonetheless, the latter method has to be calibrated for major soil types of India to accurately measure the contribution of the nonexchangeable pool in plant K uptake. Ion-exchange resins should also be tested to determine the actual plant-available K in various soil types of India by calibrating with crop K uptake.

- (iv) For more appropriate K management under intensive cropping and predict future K fertilizer requirements for different agro-ecological regions of India, soils should be characterized for non-exchangeable K reserve and its plant available part (for the dominant crops of the region), preferably through the NaBPh₄ method (for reasons discussed earlier). The same has to be linked to the K-bearing minerals present in different size-separates of soil.
- (v) Greenhouse studies should be conducted with different soil types of India to generate information on clay mineral changes caused by varying levels of soil K depletion under nutrient-exhaustive cropping. Moreover, one should compare soil samples under different fertilization and manuring treatments with the adjacent uncultivated soils from long-term experiments spread across the country to quantify the changes in clay minerals due to prolonged cropping and variation in K balance.
- (vi) Even with the inclusion of non-exchangeable K in soil testing, the actual ill effects of long-term K removal might go unnoticed. Moreover, the K fractions do not account for the release-fixation behavior of soils, which are very important from the K management point of view. For these reasons, Das et al. (2018) suggested examining parameters like thresholds of K release and fixation, K release rate, and fixation capacity at least once in ten years to keep track of the harmful effects of soil K depletion. We further add that the changes in K-bearing minerals, at least in the clay separates, should be monitored once in a decade.
- (vii) Extensive greenhouse and field trials should be carried out throughout India to explore and evaluate the different non-conventional sources for their effectiveness in supporting K nutrition of existing cropping systems.
- (viii) Lastly, provisions should be made for incentives to farmers who retain or incorporate crop residues in the field. Returning crop residues to the field would

essentially reduce the removal of native soil K under intensive cropping. At the same time, it will refrain farmers from burning the crop residues, thereby, help in reducing air pollution.

7 Conclusions

From the above discussion, we can conclude the following:

- (i) K balance remained largely negative for a long in most states and all dominant cropping systems in India, primarily due to negligence towards K application through fertilizer or other sources.
- (ii) Undoubtedly, intensively cultivated soils of India have been continuously undergoing K mining.
- (iii) Continuous K mining for a long time can deplete various K pools, especially the exchangeable and the non-exchangeable pool, implying an adverse impact on fertility and overall soil health. Moreover, long-term soil K mining can cause irreversible changes in the K-bearing minerals. All these, together, pose a potential risk to agricultural sustainability.
- (iv) The existing K fertilizer recommendations for major cropping systems appeared insufficient on multiple occasions and need revision.
- (v) Efforts to include parameters related to nonexchangeable K, release-fixation, quantity-intensity, etc., have been made to improve the existing soil K fertility assessment method, which needs further corroboration.
- (vi) Application of adequate K input through either commercial fertilizer or alternative sources like crop residues, manures, and K-rich minerals, or their suitable combination, must be made to meet the crop demand under intensive cultivation to boost up crop yields, maintain soil health, and fetch more farm income in the long run.

Acknowledgements We sincerely thank the International Potash Institute (IPI) and Subhadip Paul, PhD Scholar, Division of Soil Science and Agricultural Chemistry, ICAR-IARI, New Delhi, India, for the photographs of Figs. 1 and 2, respectively. We express our gratitude to Biswarup Das, faculty member, Department of English, JTDH School, West Bengal, India, for the help he extended during language editing. The authors are also grateful to the editors and anonymous reviewers for their constructive criticism and useful suggestions on an earlier version of the manuscript.

Authors' contributions DD: conceptualization, data compilation, review of literature, writing–original and revised draft, review and editing. JS: conceptualization, review of literature, data compilation, writing–original draft. MBR: conceptualization, review of literature, data compilation, writing–original draft. MB: supervision, writing–review and editing. RD: review of literature, writing–review and editing.

Funding Not applicable.

Data availability Not applicable.

Code availability Not applicable.

Declarations

Conflict of interest We declare that we have no competing interests personal, financial or professional, whatsoever.

Ethics approval Not applicable.

Consent to participate Not applicable.

Consent for publication Not applicable.

References

- Ahmad M, Nadeem SM, Naveed M, Zahir ZA (2016) Potassium-solubilizing bacteria and their application in agriculture. In: Meena VS, Maurya BR, Verma JP, Meena RS (eds) Potassium solubilizing microorganisms for sustainable agriculture. Springer, New Delhi, pp 293–313
- AICRP-IFS (2012) Annual report 2011–12. Project Directorate for Farming Systems Research (Indian Council of Agricultural Research), Modipuram, Meerut-250110, pp 224. http://www. iifsr.res.in/AICRP/pdf/AICRP%20on%20IFS_Annual%20Rep ort_2011–12_Final.pdf. Accessed 10 June 2021
- Alfaro MA, Jarvis SC, Gregory PJ (2004) Factors affecting potassium leaching in different soils. Soil Use Manag 20:182–189. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-2743.2004.tb00355.x
- Anonymous (1998) Potassium application methods. Better Crops 82:24–27
- Anonymous (2018) Indian minerals year book 2017. Part III: mineral reviews, 56th ed.: Potash, Nagpur, India: Ministry of Mines, Indian Bureau of Mines, Government of India
- Anonymous (2019) Pocket Book of agricultural statistics 2019, Department of Agriculture, Cooperation & Farmers Welfare, Government of India, New Delhi. https://eands.dacnet.nic.in/PDF/ Pocket%20Book%202019.pdf. Accessed 12 June 2021
- Anupama K, Bangar KS, Khaddar VK, Singh B (2018) Fractions of potassium in soils of Agriculture College Research Farm, Indore, Madhya Pradesh, India. Int J Curr Microbiol App Sci 6:341–350
- Arvieu JC, Chaussidon J (1964) A study of the acid solubility of an illite: extraction of potassium and evolution of the residue. Ann Agron Paris 15:207–225
- Aune JB, Coulibaly A, Giller KE (2017) Precision farming for increased land and labour productivity in semi-arid West Africa. A review. Agron Sustain Dev 37:16. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13593-017-0424-z
- Aziz T, Ullah S, Sattar A, Nasim M, Farooq M, Khan MM (2010) Nutrient availability and maize (*Zea mays* L.) growth in soil amended with organic manures. Int J Agric Biol 12:621–624
- Badr MA (2006) Efficiency of K-feldspar combined with organic materials and silicate dissolving bacteria on tomato yield. J Appl Sci Res 2:1191–1198
- Badr MA, Shafei MA, Sharaf El-Deen SH (2006) The dissolution of K and P-bearing minerals by silicate dissolving bacteria and their effect on sorghum growth. Res J Agric Biol Sci 2:5–11
- Banerjee H, Ray K, Dutta SK, Majumdar K, Satyanarayana T, Timsina J (2018) Optimizing potassium application for hybrid rice (*Oryza*



sativa L.) in coastal saline soils of West Bengal, India. Agronomy 8:292. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy8120292

- Barber SA (1995) Soil nutrient bioavailability: a mechanistic approach, 2nd edn. Wiley, New York
- Barré P, Montagnier C, Chenu C, Abbadie L, Velde B (2008) Clay minerals as a soil potassium reservoir: observation and quantification through X-ray diffraction. Plant Soil 302:213–220. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11104-007-9471-6
- Basak BB, Biswas DR (2009) Influence of potassium solubilising microorganism (*Bacillus mucilaginosus*) and waste mica on potassium uptake dynamics by sudan grass (*Sorghum vulgare* Pers.) grown under two Alfisols. Plant Soil 317:235–255. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11104-008-9805-z
- Basak BB, Biswas DR (2010) Co-inoculation of potassium solubilizing and nitrogen fixing bacteria on solubilization of waste mica and their effect on growth promotion and nutrient acquisition by a forage crop. Biol Fertil Soils 46:641–648. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00374-010-0456-x
- Basak BB, Sarkar B (2017) Scope of natural sources of potassium in sustainable agriculture. In: Rakshit A, Abhilash PC, Singh HB, Ghosh S (eds) Adaptive soil management: from theory to practices. Springer, Singapore, pp 247–259
- Bell MJ, Ransom MD, Thompson ML, Hinsinger P, Florence AM, Moody PW, Guppy CN (2021) Considering soil potassium pools with dissimilar plant availability. In: Murrell TS, Mikkelsen RL, Sulewski G, Norton R, Thompson ML (eds) Improving potassium recommendations for agricultural crops. Springer, Cham, pp 163–190
- Bhattacharyya T, Pal DK, Mandal C, Chandran P, Ray SK, Sarkar D, Velmourougane K, Srivastava A, Sidhu GS, Singh RS, Sahoo AK, Dutta D, Nair KM, Srivastava R, Tiwary P, Nagar AP, Nimkhedkar SS (2013) Soils of India: historical perspective, classification and recent advances. Curr Sci 104:1308–1323
- Bilias F, Barbayiannis N (2017) Evaluation of sodium tetraphenylboron (NaBPh₄) as a soil test of potassium availability. Arch Agron Soil Sci 63:468–476. https://doi.org/10.1080/03650340.2016. 1218479
- Bilias F, Barbayiannis N (2019a) Potassium availability: an approach using thermodynamic parameters derived from quantity-intensity relationships. Geoderma 338:355–364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. geoderma.2018.12.026
- Bilias F, Barbayiannis N (2019b) Potassium-fixing clay minerals as parameters that define K availability of K-deficient soils assessed with a modified Mitscherlich equation model. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 19:830–840. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42729-019-00082-3
- Bilias F, Barbayiannis N (2020) Towards a single-point approach for estimating potassium quantity-intensity parameters in soils at different K saturation ratios. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 20:1679–1685. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42729-020-00238-6
- Bilias F, Tsigili S, Barbayiannis N (2021) A preliminary evaluation of cation exchange resins as a soil test of potassium availability in soils of northern Greece with different K loadings. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 21:1004–1012. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s42729-021-00417-z
- Bortoluzzi EC, Rheinheimer DS, Santanna MA, Caner L (2013) Mineralogy and nutrient desorption of suspended sediments during a storm event. J Soil Sediment 13:1093–1105. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11368-013-0692-4
- Bourg IC, Sposito G (2011) Molecular dynamics simulations of the electrical double layer on smectite surfaces contacting concentrated mixed electrolyte (NaCl-CaCl₂) solutions. J Colloid Interf Sci 360:701–715. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2011.04.063
- Brady NC, Weil RR (2012) Soil phosphorus and potassium. The nature and properties of soils, 14th edn. Pearson Education, London, pp 594–638

- Brunetto G, Ventura M, Scandellari F, Ceretta CA, Kaminski J, de Melo GW, Tagliavini M (2011) Nutrient release during the decomposition of mowed perennial ryegrass and white clover and its contribution to nitrogen nutrition of grapevine. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst 90:299–308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10705-011-9430-8
- Buck RL, Hopkins BG, Webb BL, Jolley VD, Cline NL (2016) Depth of ion exchange resin capsule placement impacts on estimation of nitrogen and phosphorus bioavailability in semiarid low-fertility soils. Soil Sci 181:216–221. https://doi.org/10.1097/SS.00000 00000000165
- Buresh RJ, Pampolino MF, Witt C (2010) Field-specific potassium and phosphorus balances and fertilizer requirement for irrigated rice-based cropping systems. Plant Soil 335:35–64. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11104-010-0441-z
- Cakmak I (2010) Potassium for better crop production and quality. Plant Soil 335:1–2. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-010-0534-8
- Chander S (2011) Annual review of fertilizer production and consumption. Indian J Fert 7:141–188
- Chander S (2017) Frank notes: importance of phosphorus and potash in Indian agriculture. Indian J Fertil 13:12–13
- Chandran P, Tiwary P, Bhattacharyya T, Mandal C, Prasad J, Ray SK, Sarkar D, Pal DK et al (2014) Development of soil and terrain digital database for major food-growing regions of India for resource planning. Curr Sci 10:1420–1430
- Chuan L, He P, Jin J, Li S, Grant C, Xu X, Qiu S, Zhao S, Zhou W (2013) Estimating nutrient uptake requirements for wheat in China. Field Crop Res 146:96–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr. 2013.02.015
- Cox AE, Joern BC, Brouder SM, Gao D (1999) Plant-available potassium assessment with a modified sodium tetraphenylboron method. Soil Sci Soc Am J 63:902–911. https://doi.org/10.2136/ sssaj1999.634902x
- Das D, Dwivedi BS, Meena MC, Singh VK, Tiwari KN (2015) Integrated nutrient management for improving soil health and crop productivity. Indian J Fert 11:64–83
- Das A (2018a) Potassium supplying capacity in soil under different land use systems of Assam. MSc Thesis, ICAR- Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi
- Das D (2018b) Effect of long-term fertilization and manuring on potassium dynamics in soils of varying mineralogical make-up. PhD Thesis, ICAR- Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi
- Das D, Nayak AK, Thilagam VK, Chatterjee D, Shahid M, Tripathi R, Mohanty S, Kumar A, Lal B, Gautam P, Panda BB, Biswas SS (2018) Measuring potassium fractions is not sufficient to assess the long-term impact of fertilization and manuring on soil's potassium supplying capacity. J Soils Sediments 18:1806–1820. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-018-1922-6
- Das A, Biswas DR, Das D, Sharma VK, Das R, Ray P, Ghosh A, Mridha N, Biswas SS (2019a) Assessment of potassium status in soils under different land use systems of Assam. Indian J Agric Sci 89:1077–1081
- Das A, Biswas DR, Sharma VK, Ray P (2019b) Soil potassium fractions under two contrasting land use systems of Assam. Indian J Agric Sci 89:1340–1343
- Das D, Dwivedi BS, Datta SP, Datta SC, Meena MC, Agarwal BK, Shahi DK, Singh M, Chakraborty D, Jaggi S (2019c) Potassium supplying capacity of a red soil from eastern India after fortytwo years of continuous cropping and fertilization. Geoderma 341:76–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2019.01.041
- Das D, Dwivedi BS, Datta SP, Datta SC, Meena MC, Dwivedi AK, Singh M, Singh VK, Chakraborty D, Jaggi S (2019d) Long-term fertilization effects on soil potassium and crop yields in a Vertisol. Indian J Agric Sci 89:1086–1890
- Das D, Dwivedi BS, Datta SP, Datta SC, Meena MC, Datta SC (2020) Intensive cropping with varying nutrient management options alters potassium dynamics in soil. Indian J Fert 16:690–704



- Das D, Dwivedi BS, Datta SP, Datta SC, Meena MC, Dwivedi AK, Singh M, Chanraborty D, Jaggi S (2021) Long-term differences in nutrient management under intensive cultivation alter potassium supplying ability of soils. Geoderma 393:114983. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2021.114983
- Datta SC (2005) Characterization of soil for potential potassium supplying capacity and release of non-exchangeable potassium during cropping through simulation model. Commun Soil Sci Plan 36:969–992. https://doi.org/10.1081/CSS-200050283
- Datta SC, Sastry TG (1989) Threshold value of potassium release in relation to plant uptake from an alluvial soil. J Pot Res 5:125–133
- Dey P, Santhi R, Maragatham S, Sellamuthu KM (2017) Status of phosphorus and potassium in the Indian soils vis-à-vis world soils. Indian J Fert 13:44–59
- Dhar A, Sanyal SK (2000) Non exchangeable potassium reserves and their release pattern in some Alfisols and Inceptisols of West Bengal. J Indian Soc Soil Sci 48:741–747
- Dobermann A, Fairhurst TH (2002) Rice straw management. Better Crops Int 16:7–11
- Dutta S, Majumdar K, Khurana HS, Sulewski G, Govil V, Satyanarayana T, Johnston A (2013) Mapping potassium budgets across different states of India. Better Crops South Asia 7:28–31
- Epstein E, Bloom AJ (2005) Mineral nutrition of plants: principles and perspectives, 2nd edn. Sinauer Associates Inc, Sunderland
- Etesami H, Emami S, Alikhani HA (2017) Potassium solubilizing bacteria (KSB): mechanisms, promotion of plant growth, and future prospects. A review. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 17:897–911. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-95162017000400005
- FAI (2016) Fertiliser statistics 2015–16. The Fertiliser Association of India, New Delhi
- FAI (2017) Fertiliser statistics 2016–17. The Fertiliser Association of India, New Delhi
- FAI (2020) Annual review of fertilizer production and consumption 2019–20. The Fertiliser Association of India, New Delhi
- Firmano RF, Melo VF, Montes CR, Junior AO, Castro C, Alleoni LRF (2020) Potassium reserves in the clay fraction of a tropical soil fertilized for three decades. Clays Clay Miner 68:237– 249. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42860-020-00078-6
- Gangaiah C, Amjad AA, Nguyen HV, Radovich TJ (2016) A correlation of rapid cardy meter sap test and icp spectrometry of dry tissue for measuring potassium (K⁺) concentrations in Pak Choi (*Brassica rapa Chinensis* Group). Commun Soil Sci Plan 47:2046–2052. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103624.2016. 1208752
- Ghorban AR (2007) Trying a new potassium uptake model by wheat. Eighteenth World Congress of Soil Science July 9–15, 2006— Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA
- Goulding K, Murrell TS, Mikkelsen RL, Rosolem C, Johnston J, Wang H, Alfaro MA (2021) Outputs: potassium losses from agricultural systems. In: Murrell TS, Mikkelsen RL, Sulewski G, Norton R, Thompson ML (eds) Improving potassium recommendations for agricultural crops. Springer, Cham, pp 75–97
- Gurav PP, Ray SK, Choudhari PL, Shirale AO, Meena BP, Biswas AK, Patra AK (2019) Potassium in shrink–swell soils of India. Curr Sci 117:587–596
- Han HS, Lee KD (2005) Phosphate and potassium solubilizing bacteria effect on mineral uptake, soil availability and growth of eggplant. Res J Agric Biol Sci 1:176–180
- Harsha BR, Jagadeesh BR (2017a) Studies on distribution of potassium fraction in surface and sub-surface layers of black soils. Int J Pharmacogn Phytochem Res 6:2596–2601
- Harsha BR, Jagadeesh BR (2017b) Potassium dynamics in surface layer of maize growing red soil type of Haveri district, Karnataka, India. Int J Pharmacogn Phytochem Res 6:1204–1207
- Hasan R (2002) Potassium status of soils in India. Better Crops Int 16:3–5

- Hasanuzzaman M, Bhuyan MHMB, Nahar K, Hossain MS, Mahmud JA, Hossen MS, Masud AAC, Moumita FM (2018) Potassium: a vital regulator of plant responses and tolerance to abiotic stresses. Agronomy 8:31. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy8030031
- Heckman JR, Tedrow JCF (2004) Greensand as a soil amendment. Significance 500:1–063
- Helmke PA, Sparks DL (1996) Lithium, sodium, potassium, rubidium, and cesium. In: Sparks DL, Page AL, Helmke PA, Loeppert RH, Soltanpour PN, Tabatabai MA, Johnston CT, Sumner ME (eds) Methods of soil analysis. Part 3: chemical methods. Soil Science Society of America, Madison, pp 551–574
- Hinsinger P (2002) Potassium. In: Lal R (ed) Encyclopedia of soil science. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 1354–1358
- Hinsinger P, Jaillard B (1993) Root-induced release of interlayer potassium and vermiculitization of phlogopite as related to potassium depletion in the rhizosphere of ryegrass. J Soil Sci 44:525–534. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2389.1993.tb00474.x
- Hosseinpur AR, Raisi T, Kiani S, Motaghian HR (2014) Potassiumrelease characteristics and their correlation with bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) plant indices in some calcareous soils. Commun Soil Sci Plant Anal 45:726–740. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103624. 2013.861913
- Hue NV (1995) Sewage sludge. In: Rechcigl J (ed) Soil amendments and environmental quality. Lewis Publ, Boca Raton, pp 199–248
- Hue NV, Silva JA (2000) Organic soil amendments for sustainable agriculture: organic sources of nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium. In: Silva JA, Uchida R (eds) College of tropical agriculture and human resources. University of Hawaii, Manoa, pp 133–143
- Islam A, Karim AJMS, Solaiman ARM, Islam MS, Saleque MA (2017) Eight-year long potassium fertilization effects on quantity/intensity relationship of soil potassium under double rice cropping. Soil Tillage Res 169:99–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2017. 02.002
- Jadhao SD, Arjun D, Mali DV, Singh M, Kharche VK, Wanjari RH, Kadu PR, Sonune BA, Magare PN (2018) Effect of long-term manuring and fertilization on depth wise distribution of potassium fractions under sorghum-wheat cropping sequence in vertisol. J Indian Soc Soil Sci 66:172–181
- Katyal JC (2019) Fertilizer use efficiency research: looking back to move forward. Indian J Fert 15:1384–1401
- Katyal JC (2020) Sustainable development of Indian agriculture: focus natural resources' management. Indian J Fert 16:198–255
- Khan SA, Mulvaney RL, Ellsworth TR (2014) The potassium pardox: implications for soil fertility, crop production and human health. Renew Agric Food Syst 29:3–27
- Kumar Y, Singh SP, Singh VP (2015) Effect of FYM and potassium on yield, nutrient uptake and economics of wheat in alluvial soil. Ann Plant Soil Res 17:100–103
- Ladha JK, Dawe D, Pathak H, Padre AT, Yadav RL, Singh B, Singh Y, Singh Y, Singh P, Kundu AL, Sakal R, Ram N, Regmi AP, Gami SK, Bhandari AL, Amin R, Yadav CR, Bhattarai EM, Das S, Aggarwal HP, Gupta RK, Hobbs PR (2003) How extensive are yield declines in long-term rice-wheat experiments in Asia? Field Crops Res 81:159–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4290(02)00219-8
- Le Roux J, Summer ME (1968) Labile potassium in soils: I. Factors affecting the quantity-intensity (Q/I) parameters. Soil Sci 106:35-41
- Lester GE, Jifon JL, Makus DJ (2010) Impact of potassium nutrition on food quality of fruits and vegetables: a condensed and concise review of the literature. Better Crops 94:18–21
- Li T, Wang H, Wang J, Zhou Z, Zhou J (2015a) Exploring the potential of phyllosilicate minerals as potassium fertilizers using sodium tetraphenylboron and intensive cropping with perennial ryegrass. Sci Rep 5:9249. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep09249



- Li T, Wang H, Zhou Z, Chen X, Zhou J (2015b) A nano-scale study of the mechanisms of non-exchangeable potassium release from micas. Appl Clay Sci 118:131–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clay.2015.09.013
- Li T, Wang H, Zhou Z, Chen X, Zhou J (2016) A new grading system for plant-available potassium using exhaustive cropping techniques combined with chemical analyses of soils. Sci Rep 6:37327. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep37327
- Li J, Niu L, Zhang Q, Di H, Hao J (2017a) Impacts of long-term lack of potassium fertilization on different forms of soil potassium and crop yields on the North China Plains. J Soils Sediments 17:1607–1617. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-017-1658-8
- Li T, Wang H, Chen X, Zhou J (2017b) Soil reserves of potassium: release and availability to *Lolium perenne* in relation to clay minerals in six cropland soils from Eastern China. Land Degrad Dev 28:1696–1703. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.2701
- Logan TJ, Chaney RL (1983) Utilization of municipal wastewater and sludge on land-metals. In: Page AL, Gleason TL III, Smith JE Jr, Iskander IK, Sommers LE (eds) Proceedings of the workshop on utilization of municipal wastewater and sludge on land. University of California, Riverside, pp 235–326
- Lu D, Li C, Sokolwski E, Magen H, Chen X, Wang H, Zhou J (2017) Crop yield and soil available potassium changes as affected by potassium rate in rice–wheat systems. Field Crops Res 214:38– 44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2017.08.025
- Mahfuza SN, Islam MN, Aktar S, Amin MR, Islam MA (2008) Influence of split application of potassium on yield and yield contributing characters of rice cultivars-BR11 and Nizersail. The Agric 6:84–89. https://doi.org/10.3329/agric.v6i1.5218
- Majumdar K, Kumar A, Shahi V, Satyanarayana T, Jat ML, Kumar D, Pampolino M, Gupta N, Singh V, Dwivedi BS, Meena MC, Singh VK, Kamboj BR, Sidhu HS, Johnston A (2012) Economics of potassium fertiliser application in rice, wheat and maize grown in the Indo-Gangetic plains. Indian J Fert 8:44–53
- Majumdar K, Sanyal SK, Dutta SK, Satyanarayana T, Singh VK (2016) Nutrient mining: addressing the challenges to soil resources and food security. In: Singh U, Praharaj C, Singh S, Singh N (eds) Biofortification of food crops. Springer, New Delhi, pp 177–198
- Majumdar K, Sanyal SK, Singh VK, Dutta S, Satyanarayana T, Dwivedi BS (2017) Potassium fertiliser management in Indian agriculture: current trends and future needs. Indian J Fert 13:20–30
- Majumdar K, Norton RM, Murrell TS, García F, Zingore S, Prochnow LI, Pampolino M, Boulal H, Dutta S, Francisco E, Tan MS, He P, Singh VK, Oebrthür T (2021) Assessing potassium mass balances in different countries and scales. In: Murrell TS, Mikkelsen RL, Sulewski G, Norton R, Thompson ML (eds) Improving potassium recommendations for agricultural crops. Springer, Cham, pp 283–340
- Manning DA (2010) Mineral sources of potassium for plant nutrition. A review. Agron Sustain Dev 30:281–294. https://doi.org/10. 1051/agro/2009023
- Manning DA, Baptista J, Limon MS, Brandt K (2017) Testing the ability of plants to access potassium from framework silicate minerals. Sci Total Environ 574:476–481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2016.09.086
- Meena VS, Maurya BR, Verma JP, Aeron A, Kumar A, Kim K, Bajpai VK (2015) Potassium solubilizing rhizobacteria (KSR): isolation, identification, and K-release dynamics from waste mica. Ecol Eng 81:340–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2015. 04.065
- Menon RG, Hammond LL, Sissingh HA (1989) Determination of plant available phosphorus by iron-impregnated filter paper (pi) soil test. Soil Sci Soc Am J 53:110–115. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj 1989.03615995005300010020x

- Mohapatra AK, Parida P, Pattanayak SK, Satyanarayana T (2013) Response of groundnut to balanced fertilization and omission of potassium. Better Crops 7:12–15
- Moterle DF, Kaminski J, Rheinheimer DS, Caner L, Bortoluzzi EC (2016) Impact of potassium fertilization and potassium uptake by plants on soil clay mineral assemblage in South Brazil. Plant Soil 406:157–172. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-016-2862-9
- Muralidharudu Y, Sammi Reddy K, Mandal BN, Subba Rao A, Singh KN, Sonekar S (2011) GIS based soil fertility maps of different states of India. Indian Institute of Soil Science, Bhopal
- Nath D, Maurya BR, Meena VS (2017) Documentation of five potassium-and phosphorus-solubilizing bacteria for their K and P-solubilization ability from various minerals. Biocatal Agric Biotechnol 10:174–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcab.2017.03.007
- Neilsen GH, Neilsen D, Peryea F (1999) Response of soil and irrigated fruit trees to fertigation or broadcast application of nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium. Hort Technol 9:393–401. https:// doi.org/10.21273/HORTTECH.9.3.393
- Niebes JF, Dufey JE, Jaillard B, Hinsinger P (1993) Release of nonexchangeable potassium from different size fractions of two highly K-fertilized soils in the rhizosphere of rape (*Brassica napus* cv Drakkar). Plant Soil 155:403–406. https://doi.org/10. 1007/BF00025068
- Nishanth D, Biswas DR (2008) Kinetics of phosphorus and potassium release from rock phosphate and waste mica enriched compost and their effect on yield and nutrient uptake by wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). Bioresour Technol 99:3342–3353. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biortech.2007.08.025
- Núñez A, Morón A (2017) Potassium dynamics in western Uruguayan agricultural Mollisols. Commun Soil Sci Plant Anal 48:2558– 2572. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103624.2017.1416134
- Oosterhuis DM, Loka DA, Kawakami EM, Pettigrew WT (2014) The physiology of potassium in crop production. Adv Agron 126:203–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800132-5. 00003-1
- Pal DK (2017) A treatise of Indian and tropical soils. Springer, Cham Pandian T, Datta SC (2009) Potassium release behaviour of soil clays in
- relation to trioctahedral components of mica. Clay Res 28:69–94
- Panwar A, Shamim M, Babu S, Ravishankar N, Prusty AK, Alam NM, Singh DK, Bindhu JS, Kaur J, Dashora LN, Pasha MDL, Chaterjee S, Sanjay MT, Desai L (2018) Enhancement in productivity, nutrients use efficiency, and economics of rice-wheat cropping systems in india through farmer's participatory approach. Sustainability 11:122. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11010122
- Partey ST, Quashie-Sam SJ, Thevathasan NV, Gordon AM (2011) Decomposition and nutrient release patterns of the leaf biomass of the wild sunflower (*Tithonia diversifolia*): a comparative study with four leguminous agroforestry species. Agroforest Syst 81:123–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-010-9360-5
- Pathak H, Mohanty S, Jain N, Bhatia A (2010) Nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium budgets in Indian agriculture. Nutr Cycl Agroecosys 86:287–299. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10705-009-9292-5
- Patil NG, Tiwary P, Bhattacharyya T et al (2014) Natural resources of the Indo-Gangetic Plains: a land-use planning perspective. Curr Sci 107:1537–1549
- Patra AK, Dutta SK, Dey P, Majumdar K (2017) Potassium fertility status of Indian soils: national soil health card database highlights the increasing potassium deficit in soils. Indian J Fert 13(11):28–33
- Ponnamperuma FN (1972) The chemistry of submerged soils. Adv Agron 24:29–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2113(08) 60633-1
- Pramanik P, Goswami AJ, Ghosh S, Kalita C (2019) An indigenous strain of potassium-solubilizing bacteria *Bacillus pseudomycoides* enhanced potassium uptake in tea plants by increasing potassium availability in the mica waste-treated soil of North-east



India. J Appl Microbiol 126:215–222. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.14130

- Raghavendra M, Singh YV, Meena MC, Das TK, Sepat S, Verma RK (2020) System productivity and economics influenced by residue and potassium management in maize (*Zea mays*)-wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) rotation. Indian J Agri Sci 90:784–789
- Raheb A, Heidari A (2012) Effects of clay mineralogy and physicochemical properties on potassium availability under soil aquic conditions. J Plant Nutr Soil Sci 12:747–761. https://doi.org/10. 4067/s0718-95162012005000029
- Rao AS, Sai MVR, Pal SK (1993) Non-exchangeable potassium reserves and their categorization in some soils of India. J Indian Soc Soil Sci 41:667–673
- Rathore SS, Chaudhary DR, Boricha GN, Ghosh A, Bhatt BP, Zodape ST, Patolia JS (2009) Effect of seaweed extract on the growth, yield and nutrient uptake of soybean (*Glycine max*) under rainfed conditions. S Afr J Bot 75:351–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. sajb.2008.10.009
- Regmi AP, Ladha JK, Pasuquin E, Pathak H, Hobbs PR, Shrestha LL, Gharti DB, Duveiller E (2002) The role of potassium in sustaining yields in a long-term rice-wheat experiment in the Indo-Gangetic plains of Nepal. Biol Fertil Soils 36:240–247. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00374-002-0525-x
- Rehm GW, Sorensen RC (1985) Effects of potassium and magnesium applied for corn grown on an irrigated sandy soil. Soil Sci Soc Am J 49:1446–1450. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj1985.03615 995004900060023x
- Rich CI (1968) Mineralogy of soil potassium. In: Kilmer VJ, Younts SE, Brady NC (eds) The role of potassium in agriculture. American Society of Agronomy, Madison, pp 79–108
- Sahoo J, Dinesh BMA, Anil AS, Raza MB (2020) Nutrient distribution and relationship with soil properties in different watersheds of Haryana. Indian J Agric Sci 90:172–177
- Sangeeth KP, Bhai RS, Srinivasan V (2012) Paenibacillus glucanolyticus, a promising potassium solubilizing bacterium isolated from black pepper (Piper nigrum L.) rhizosphere. J Spic Aromat Crops 21:118–124
- Sanyal SK (2014a) Potassium-the neglected major plant nutrient in soil crop management practices. J Indian Soc Soil Sci 62(supplement):S117–S130
- Sanyal SK (2014b) Nutrient mining in soil-an issue of concern, newsletter 36. Indian Society of Soil Science, New Delhi, pp 1–3
- Sanyal SK, Majumdar K, Chatterjee S (2009) Influence of mineralogy on potassium availability in Indian soils. Indian J Fert 5:49–52
- Sanyal SK, Majumdar K, Singh VK (2014) Nutrient management in Indian agriculture with special reference to nutrient mining—a relook. J Indian Soc Soil Sci 62:307–325
- Sanyal SK (2001) Potassium availability of soils of West Bengal in relation to their mineralogy. In: Use of potassium in West Bengal agriculture. Department of Agriculture, Government of West Bengal and potash and phosphate Institute of Canada-India Programme, pp 41–54
- Sarkar GK, Chattopadhyay AP, Sanyal SK (2013) Release pattern of non-exchangeable potassium reserves in Alfisols, Inceptisols and Entisols of West Bengal, India. Geoderma 207–208:8–14. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2013.04.029
- Satisha GC, Ganeshamurthy AN (2016) Bio-efficacy of polyhalite application on yield and quality of cabbage and cauliflower. Electron Int Fert Corr 44:21–31
- Satyanarayana T, Tewatia RK (2009) State wise approaches to crop nutrient balances in India. In: Proceedings of the IPI-OUAT-IPNI international symposium on potassium role and benefits in improving nutrient management for food production, quality and reduced environmental damages, Bhubaneswar, Orissa, India, 5–7 Nov 2009, pp 467–485

- Schaff BE, Skogley EO (1982) Diffusion of potassium, calcium, and magnesium in Bozeman silt loam as influenced by temperature and moisture. Soil Sci Soc Am J 46:521–524. https://doi.org/10. 2136/sssaj1982.03615995004600030015x
- Schneider A (1997) Release and fixation of potassium by loamy soil as affected by initial soil water content and potassium status of soil samples. Eur J Soil Sci 48:263–271. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1365-2389.1997.tb00546.x
- Shand C (2007) Plant nutrition for food security. A guide for integrated nutrient management. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (2006), Rome, pp 348, US \$7000 ISBN 92-5-105490-8. Exp Agric 43(1):132
- Sharma A, Jalali VK, Arora S (2010) Non-exchangeable potassium release and its removal in foot-hill soils of North-west Himalayas. CATENA 82:112–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena. 2010.05.009
- Sheng XF, He LY (2006) Solubilization of potassium-bearing minerals by a wild-type strain of *Bacillus edaphicus* and its mutants and increased potassium uptake by wheat. Can J Microbiol 52:66–72. https://doi.org/10.1139/w05-117
- Sheng XF, Huang WY (2002) Mechanism of potassium release from feldspar affected by the strain NBT of silicate bacterium. Acta Pedol Sin 39:863–871
- Shirale AO, Meena BP, Gurav PP, Srivastava S, Biswas AK, Thakur JK, Somasundaram J, Patra AK, Rao AS (2019) Prospects and challenges in utilization of indigenous rocks and minerals as source of potassium in farming rocks and minerals as source of potassium. J Plant Nutr 42:2682–2701. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 01904167.2019.1659353
- Shukla AK, Sharma SK, Tiwari R, Tiwari KN (2005) Nutrient depletion in the rice-wheat cropping system of the Indo-Gangetic plains. Better Crops 89:28–31
- Singh SK, Chandran P (2015) Soil genesis and classification. In: Rattan RK, Katyal JC, Dwivedi BS, Sarkar AK, Bhattacharyya T, Tarafdar JC, Kukal SS (eds) Soil science: an introduction. Indian Society of Soil Science, New Delhi
- Singh Y, Sidhu HS (2014) Management of cereal crop residues for sustainable rice-wheat production system in the Indo-Gangetic Plains of India. Proc Indian Natl Sci Acad 80:95–114. https://doi. org/10.16943/ptinsa/2014/v80i1/55089
- Singh M, Wanjari RH (2014) Potassium response in Vertisol in longterm fertilizer experiment in India. Int Potash Inst 37:10–15
- Singh M, Wanjari RH (2018) Relative contribution of major nutrients in crop productivity under long-term fertilizer experiments in India. Indian J Fert 14:28–33
- Singh B, Singh Y, Imas P, Jian-chang X (2003) Potassium nutrition of the rice wheat cropping system. Adv Agron 81:203–259
- Singh VK, Dwivedi BS, Buresh RJ, Jat ML, Majumdar K, Gangwar B, Govil V, Singh SK (2013) Potassium fertilization in ricewheat system across Northern India: crop performance and soil nutrients. J Agron 105:471–481. https://doi.org/10.2134/agron j2012.0226
- Singh VK, Dwivedi BS, Shukla AK, Kumar V, Gangwar B, Rani M, Singh SK, Mishra RP (2015) Status of available sulphur in soils of north-western Indo-Gangetic plain and western Himalayan region and responses of rice and wheat to applied sulphur in farmers' fields. Agric Res 4:76–92. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40003-015-0149-7
- Singh M, Wanjari RH, Jatav RC (2017) Phosphorus and potassium management under long-term manuring and fertilisation. Indian J Fert 13:98–109
- Singh VK, Dwivedi BS, Rathore SS, Mishra RP, Satyanarayana T, Majumdar K (2021) Timing potassium applications to synchronize with plant demand. In: Murrell TS, Mikkelsen RL, Sulewski G, Norton R, Thompson ML (eds) Improving potassium recommendations for agricultural crops. Springer, Cham, pp 363–384



- Sirius Minerals (2016) POLY4 brochure. http://www.siriusminerals. com (Accessed on 4 June 2021)
- Skogley EO, Schaff BE (1985) Ion diffusion in soils as related to physical and chemical properties. Soil Sci Soc Am J 49:847–850. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj1985.03615995004900040012x
- Sparks DL (1987) Potassium dynamics in soils. In: Stewart BA (ed) Advances in soil science. Springer, New York, pp 1–63
- Sparks DL, Huang PM (1985) Physical chemistry of soil potassium. In: Munson RD (ed) Potassium in agriculture. American Society of Agronomy, Madison, pp 201–276
- Srinivasarao C, Srinivas K (2017) Potassium dynamics and role of nonexchangeable potassium in crop nutrition. Indian J Fert 13:80–94
- Srinivasarao C, Takkar PN (1997) Evaluation of different extractants for measuring the soil potassium and determination of critical levels for plant-available K in smectitic soils for sorghum. J Indian Soc Soil Sci 45:113–119
- Srinivasarao C, Vittal KPR (2007) Emerging nutrient deficiencies in different soil types under rainfed production systems of India. Indian J Fert 3:37–46
- Srinivasarao C, Datta SP, Rao AS, Singh SP, Takkar PN (1997) Kinetics of nonexchangeable potassium release by organic acids from mineralogically different soils. J Indian Soc Soil Sci 45:728–734
- Srinivasarao C, Rao AS, Rupa TR (2001) Need for inclusion of nonexchangeable potassium in soil test based potassium fertilizer recommendations. Fert News 46:31–40
- Srinivasarao C, Masood A, Ganeshamurthy AN, Singh KK (2003) Potassium requirements of pulse crops. Better Crops Int 17:8–11
- Srinivasarao C, Vittal KPR, Tiwari KN, Gajbhiye PN, Kundu S (2007) Categorisation of soils based on potassium reserves and production systems: implications in K management. Aust J Soil Res 45:438–447. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR07024
- Srinivasarao C, Satyanarayana T, Venkateswarlu B (2011) Potassium mining in Indian agriculture: input and output balance. Karnataka J Agric Sci 24:20–28
- Srinivasarao C, Kundu S, Ramachandrappa BK, Reddy S, Lal R, Venkateswarlu B, Sahrawat KL, Naik RP (2014) Potassium release characteristics, potassium balance, and fingermillet (*Eleusine coracana* G.) yield sustainability in a 27-year long experiment on an Alfisol in the semi-arid tropical India. Plant Soil 374:315–330. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-013-1877-8
- Srivastava AK, Das SN, Malhotra SK, Majumdar K (2014) SSNMbased rationale of fertiliser use in perennial crops: a review. Indian J Agric Sci 84(1):3–17
- Stoorvogel JJ, Smaling EMA, Janssen BH (1993) Calculating soil nutrient balances in Africa at different scales. Fert Res 35(3):227–235. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00750641
- Subba Rao A, Brar MS (2009) Potassium. In: Goswami NN, Rattan RK, Dev G, Narayanasamy G, Das DK, Sanyal SK, Pal DK, Rao DLN (eds) Fundamentals of soil science, 2nd edn. Indian Society of Soil Science, New Delhi, pp 431–432
- Sugumaran P, Janarthanam B (2007) Solubilization of potassium containing minerals by bacteria their effect on plant growth. World J Agric Sci 3:350–355
- Sui N, Yu C, Song G, Zhang F, Liu R, Yang C, Meng Y, Zhou Z (2017) Comparative effects of crop residue incorporation and inorganic potassium fertilisation on apparent potassium balance and soil potassium pools under a wheat–cotton system. Soil Res 55:723–734. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR16200
- Sundaresh R, Basavaraja PK (2017) Influence of different levels of phosphorus and potassium on growth, yield attributes and economics of finger millet in low phosphorus and potassium soils of eastern dry zone of Karnataka, India. Int J Curr Microbiol App Sci 6:3559–3566

- Supanjani HSH, Jae SJ, Kyung DL (2006) Rock phosphate-potassium and rock-solubilising bacteria as alternative, sustainable fertilizers. Agron Sustain Dev 26:233–240
- Tandon HLS (1995) Recycling of crop, animal, human and industrial wastes in agriculture. FDCO, New Delhi
- Tandon HLS (2004) Fertilizers in Indian agriculture from 20th to 21st century. Fertiliser Development and Consultation Organisation, New Delhi
- Tandon HLS, Muralidharudu Y (2010) Nutrient uptake, removal and recycling by crops. FDCO, New Delhi
- Tarkalson DD, Brown B, Kok H, Bjorneberg DL (2009) Impact of removing straw from wheat and barley fields: a literature review. Better Crops 93:17–19
- Tewatia RK, Rattan RK, Bhende S, Kumar L (2017) Nutrient use and balances in India with special reference to phosphorus and potassium. Indian J Fert 13:20–29
- Thompson ML, Ukrainczyk L (2002) Micas. In: Dixon JB, Schulze DG (eds) Soil mineralogy with environmental applications. Soil science society of America book series no. 7. Soil Science Society of America, Madison, pp 431–466
- Tien TM, Trang TTT, Ha PTN, Thu TTM (2021) Effects of polyhalite application on yield and quality of cabbage grown on degraded soils in northern Vietnam. Int Potash Inst 63:3–10
- Tiwari DD, Pandey SB, Katiyar NK (2015) Effects of polyhalite as a fertilizer on yield and quality of the oilseed crops mustard and sesame. Int Fert Corr 42:10–34
- Uroz S, Calvaruso C, Turpault MP, Pierrat JC, Mustin C, Frey-Klett P (2007) Effect of the mycorrhizosphere on the genotypic and metabolic diversity of the bacterial communities involved in mineral weathering in a forest soil. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:3019–3027. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00121-07
- Van den Bosch H, de Jager A, Vlaming J (1998) Monitoring nutrient flows and economic performance in African farming systems (NUTMON): II. Tool development. Agr Ecosyst Environ 71(1–3):49–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(98)00131-5
- Venkatesh MS, Hazra KK, Ghosh PK, Khuswah BL, Ganeshamurthy AN, Ali M, Singh J, Mathur RS (2017) Long-term effect of crop rotation and nutrient management on soil–plant nutrient cycling and nutrient budgeting in Indo-Gangetic plains of India. Arch Agron Soil Sci 63:2007–2022. https://doi.org/10.1080/03650 340.2017.1320392
- Volenec JJ, Brouder SM, Murrell TS (2021) Broadening the objectives of future potassium recommendations. In: Murrell TS, Mikkelsen RL, Sulewski G, Norton R, Thompson ML (eds) Improving potassium recommendations for agricultural crops. Springer, Cham
- Wang HY, Cheng W, Li T, Jianmin ZH, Xiaoqin CH (2016) Can nonexchangeable potassium be differentiated from structural potassium in soils? Pedosphere 26:206–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1002-0160(15)60035-2
- Wani M, Kumar R (2008) Distribution of potassium and clay minerals assemblage in some paddy soils of Lesser Himalayas. Agropedology 18:98–105
- Zhao S, He P, Qiu S, Jia L, Liu M, Jin J, Johnston AM (2014) Longterm effects of potassium fertilization and straw return on soil potassium levels and crop yields in north-central China. Field Crop Res 169:116–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2014.09.017

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.